THE STATES OF DELIBERATION Of the ISLAND OF GUERNSEY

POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE

THE RULES OF THE PUBLIC SERVANTS' PENSION SCHEME

The States are asked to decide:-

Whether, after consideration of the policy letter entitled 'The Rules of the Public Servants' Pension Scheme' dated 4th November 2024, they are of the opinion:-

1. To approve the States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (New Pensions and other Benefits) Rules, 2016, as amended, as appended.

THE STATES OF DELIBERATION Of the ISLAND OF GUERNSEY

POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE

THE RULES OF THE PUBLIC SERVANTS' PENSION SCHEME

The Presiding Officer States of Guernsey Royal Court House St Peter Port

4th November 2024

Dear Sir

1 Executive Summary

- 1.1 On 23 November 2022 the States of Deliberation approved the Secondary Pensions (Guernsey and Alderney) Law, pursuant to which the Committee for Employment & Social Security ('ESS') has made various Regulations, which together prescribe the conditions that Guernsey occupational pensions must now meet, referred to hereafter as Secondary Pensions Requirements.
- 1.2 The primary (or basic) pension is the States Pension (previously known as the 'Old Age Pension') but it is recognised that reliance on that as a sole source of income will not enable an adequate or comfortable retirement and, in many instances, will necessitate additional States support (through income support). The introduction of secondary pensions legislation was intended to ensure that most Guernsey and Alderney employees have secondary (occupational) pensions to enable them to make provision for retirement with a financial contribution from their employer.
- 1.3 Employers may comply with the Secondary Pension Requirements through the 'Your Island Pension' or through their own arrangements, provided that such arrangements comply with the Secondary Pensions Requirements.
- 1.4 The States of Guernsey has long provided an occupational pension for employees through the Public Servants' Pension Scheme ('the Scheme'). However, it is necessary to make some relatively minor and inexpensive amendments to the Scheme in order for it fully to meet the Secondary Pension Requirements.
- 1.5 This Policy Letter sets out those amendments and includes (at Appendix 1)

2 The Requirements

- 2.1 The Scheme is largely a defined benefit arrangement with a defined contribution section for earnings above £112,397 per annum (2024 rate) which provides a level of benefits which in general comply with the Secondary Pensions Requirements but minor amendments are required in the following areas:
 - Eligibility for membership;
 - Vesting period (i.e. length of membership to qualify for pension benefits);
 - Period for refunds of employee contributions; and
 - Trivial commutation of defined contribution pension benefits.

3 Eligibility for Membership

- 3.1 Under the current Rules, permanent employees and employees engaged under a contract that is at least twelve months in length are eligible to join the Scheme and are compulsorily admitted to it.
- 3.2 Secondary Pensions Requirements require that membership be available for any employee engaged on a contract of three months or longer earning in excess of the lower earnings threshold for social security contributions. The number of additional employees admitted as a result of the necessary rule change is minimal, and the cost to the employer is therefore also minimal.

4 Vesting Period

- 4.1 The vesting period is the qualifying period for entitlement to: member benefits from pension age (or earlier at a reduced rate); ill health retirement benefits; and surviving partner and/or qualifying children pensions in the event of death in service. The current vesting period is two years. Members who leave prior to attaining two years' service can choose either to transfer their accrued benefits to an alternative arrangement or take a refund of their own contributions. Preserving pension benefits is not an option.
- 4.2 Under the Secondary Pensions Requirements, the vesting period in respect of service from 1st July 2024 is three months and it is therefore necessary to adjust the Rules accordingly. It is not strictly necessary to reduce the vesting period in respect of dependants' and ill health retirement benefits but makes sense to do so. The broad indicative estimate of the change in member benefits is a one-time cost of £150,000, and for dependants circa £180,000 per annum.

5 Period for refunds of employee contributions

5.1 At present a member of the Scheme is permitted to take a refund of their own contributions at any time up until pension age. However, the purpose of

Secondary Pensions Requirements is to facilitate provision for retirement and, accordingly, refunds will not be permissible once the member has reached the vesting period.

- 5.2 In order to comply with the Secondary Pensions Requirements, the Rules of the Scheme will have to be amended such that any member will not be able to take a refund in respect of service from 1st July 2024 once they have at least three months' service from that date (in order to protect accrued rights, refunds in respect of service prior to 1st July 2024 will still be possible).
- 5.3 When a refund is taken, the employer contribution remains in the fund. The broad indicative estimated cost of the change is £276,000 per annum, but this cost is, of course, matched by the benefit provided and is, therefore, entirely appropriate and in line with the intent of the Secondary Pensions Requirements.

6 Trivial commutation of DC benefits

- 6.1 Whilst the Scheme provides defined benefits to members, some members also have defined contributions. The Secondary Pension Requirements state that only once a member reaches 50 years of age may commutation of benefits be permitted. Due to the fact that members with defined contribution will also have defined benefits, such members may not be entitled to commutation of the defined contributions under the Income Tax Law The Rules are proposed to be amended to allow a refund of defined contribution benefits, to the extent permitted by the Income Tax Law, in the existing scheme for members who are 50 years old or older.
- 6.2 As the member simply needs to wait until they attain 50 years of age there is no expected cost impact of this change.

7 Total Cost

- 7.1 The amendments to the existing scheme required to comply with the Secondary Pensions Legislation have an estimated annual cost of £456,000 per annum.
- 7.2 The amendments proposed to allow members to join from three months' service, rather than one year, are negligible but carry a one-off estimated cost of £150,000.
- 7.3 For funding purposes, there is no meaningful impact on the employer contribution rates set out in the 2023 valuation report and the future service rate rounds to the same figure with and without allowance for secondary pensions.

8 Rule Changes

8.1 In light of the changes (detailed above) that would assist in ensuring that the

Scheme fully meets the Secondary Pensions Requirements, the necessary amendments to the Rules have been drafted and those proposed amendments to the Rules are attached as Appendix 1 - the States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (New Pensions and other Benefits) Rules, 2016, as amended.

9 Compliance with Rule 4

9.1 Rule 4 of the Rules of Procedure of the States of Deliberation and their Committees sets out the information which must be included in, or appended to, motions laid before the States.

9.2 In accordance with Rule 4(1):

- a) The Proposition contributes to the States' objectives and policy plans because it is contributing to the implementation of the States' agreed Secondary Pensions policy.
- b) Consultation has not been necessary in preparing the proposals.
- c) The Proposition has been submitted to His Majesty's Procureur for advice on any legal or constitutional implications.
- d) The financial implications to the States of carrying the proposal into effect are no more than £150,000 which would be the maximum increase in the scheme liabilities. This is immaterial to the funding position.

9.3 In accordance with Rule 4(2):

- a) The Proposition relates to the Policy & Resources Committee's role as employer.
- b) The Proposition has the unanimous support of the Policy & Resources Committee.

Yours faithfully

L S Trott President

H J R Soulsby Vice President

J P Le Tocq R C Murray J A B Gollop

APPENDIX 1

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (New Pensions and other Benefits) Rules, 2016

The States in pursuance of their Resolution of the 16th day of February 2016 approved the following Rules.

The States in pursuance of their Resolution of the 22nd day of May 2019 approved the following Rules as amended.

The States in pursuance of their Resolution of the [•] day of December 2024 approved the following Rules as further amended.

Final: 31st October 2024

Contents

Rule No	Heading	Page No
	Background	
	Operative part	

Part 1	Administrative and General Provisions	
1.	Definitions and Interpretation	1
2.	Governing law	15
3.	Jurisdiction	15
4.	Amendment of the Scheme	15
5.	Constitution of the Scheme	16
6.	Amending the Rules	16
7.	Scheme Assets	16
8.	Tax registration	17
9.	Equal treatment	17
10.	The Committee	17
11.	Committee: decisions, exercise of discretions and confidentiality	18
12.	Committee: administration and delegation powers	19
13.	Litigation and disputes	20
14.	Accounts and records	20
15.	Dealings with the Committee	21
16.	Consultation with the Pensions Consultative Committee	22
17.	Appointing professional advisors	22
18.	Actuarial valuations	23
19.	Personal interests of a Committee officer	24
20.	Committee's investment powers	24
21.	Delegation of investment powers and administration of investments	25
22.	Payment of benefits: general provisions	26
23.	Prohibition on assignment and forfeiture of benefits	28
24.	Reducing benefits because of a charge, lien or set -off	29
25.	Committee liability: limitations	29
26.	Committee liability: exemption and indemnity	30
27.	Principal Employer: covenants and replacement	30
28.	Participating Employers: admission to the Scheme	31
29.	Actuarial Deficit or Surplus	32
30.	Participating Employers: paying contributions, Cost Cap & Cost Floor	32
31.	Participating Employers: consequences of stopping participation	35
32.	Expenses	36

33.	Transfers out of the Scheme	36
34.	Transfers into the Scheme	37
35.	Members absent on leave for family reasons	38
36.	Members with more than one period of Pensionable Service	39
37.	Citation	39
38.	Coming into Effect	39

Part 2	The CARE Rules	
39.	Principles underpinning the Scheme and worked example	39
40.	Joining the Scheme and Accruing Benefits	40
40A	Special transition provisions for Care Transition Members	41
41.	No Power to Opt Out of Pensionable Service while in Service	41
42.	Active Members' Contributions	41
43.	Payment of Reduced Contributions for Pensionable Service	42
44.	Defined Contribution Scheme	42
45.	AVCs – Additional Benefits	44
46.	Benefits for early leavers of the CARE Scheme	44
47.	Pension in payment increases	45
48.	Commutation options – CARE Member	46
49.	Members with Part-time Service – Assumption in calculating	47
	benefit	
50.	Normal retirement for CARE Active Members	47
51.	Partial retirement for CARE Active Members	48
52.	Early Retirement for CARE Active Members	50
53.	Late Retirement for CARE Active Members	52
54.	Death benefits: CARE Active Members who die in Pensionable	53
	Service before reaching Normal Pension age	
55.	Death benefits: CARE Active Members who die in Pensionable	56
	Service on or after reaching Normal Pension Age	
56.	Death benefits: CARE Deferred Members	56
57.	Death benefits: CARE Pensioner Members	57

Part 3	Final Salary Rules	
58.	Application	59
59.	Interpretation	59
60.	Active Members subject to Transitional Provisions	59
61.	Closure of the Final Salary Scheme	59
62.	No further accrual to the Final Salary Scheme except for Final Salary Protected Members	59
63.	Members who left Pensionable Service or died before the	60
	Transition Date	
64.	Changes in indexation, commutation options, HM Greffier	60

65.	Final Salary Protected Members: Benefits under the Final Salary Scheme	60
66.	CARE Transition Members: Benefits under the Final Salary Scheme	61
67.	Final Salary Scheme Revaluation Provisions	62
68.	AVCs Final Salary Scheme – Additional Benefits	62
69.	Final Salary Protected Members - Contributions	63
70.	CARE Active Members Normal Pension Age	64
71.	Benefits for early leavers of the Final Salary Scheme	65
72.	No re-entry into the Final Salary Scheme	65
73.	Pensionable Service	65
74.	Commutation Options – Final Salary Protected Members or CARE Transition Members	67
75.	Normal Retirement for Final Salary Scheme Members	68
76.	Pensionable Service and Final Salary Normal Pension Age for Final Salary Existing Members employed by the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or Airport Fire and Rescue Service.	70
77.	Pensionable Service and Final Salary Normal Pension Age for Final Salary New Members employed by the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or Airport Fire and Rescue Service.	71
78.	Pensionable Service and Final Salary Normal Pension Age for Final Salary Existing Members who are members of the Guernsey Police Force	71
79.	Pensionable Service and Final Salary Normal Pension Age for Final Salary New Members who are members of the Guernsey Police Force	72
80.	Early Retirement for Final Salary Active Members by reason of Total or Partial Incapacity	72
81.	Benefits for early leavers from the Final Salary Scheme	73
82.	Early Retirement for a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member	73
83.	Early Retirement for Final Salary Deferred Members	74
84.	Rules on Early Retirement from the Final Salary Scheme on grounds of Redundancy or Diminished Efficiency no longer apply.	74
85.	Partial retirement for a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member	74
86.	Death of a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member whilst in Pensionable Service.	76
87.	Death of a Final Salary Deferred Member.	81
88.	Death of a Final Salary Pensioner Member.	82
89.	Regulation 26(1) of the Teachers' Regulations.	83

Part 4	Teachers' Pension Scheme	
90.	Transitional Provisions - CARE Transition Members	84
91.	Teachers' Pension Scheme to remain in force	84
92.	Amendments to the Teachers' Scheme	84
		·
Part 5	Original Documents	
Part 6	Normal Pension Age for CARE Members who were members of the Final	
	Salary Scheme on 29th February 2016.	
Part 7	Special transition provisions for CARE Transition Members admitted and	
	accruing benefits with effect from the Transition Date.	
Part 8	Special Provisions for CARE Members holding a Relevan	nt Office.

Background

- (A) By a resolution of the States of Guernsey dated 16th February 2016 the Principal Employer amended the Scheme with effect from the Transition Date.
- (B) Before this date, the Scheme was governed by the States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) Rules 1972 to 2010 (those rules being set out in the Original Documents), the Scheme being introduced by a Resolution of the States dated 28th September 1972 and having been subsequently amended on several occasions.
- (C) The Committee administers the Scheme.
- (D) The Principal Employer is the Principal Employer of the Scheme.
- (E) By resolution of the States of Guernsey dated 29th April 2015 the Final Salary Scheme was closed to new members with effect from 1st May 2015. New Members joining the Scheme from the 1st May 2015 join the Scheme on the basis of these Rules.
- (F) Transitional provisions relating to Members in the Final Salary Scheme as at the Transition Date are set out in the Final Salary Rules. Final Salary Protected Members are subject to the provisions of the Final Salary Rules. CARE Transition Members who were Members of the Final Salary Scheme immediately prior to the Transition Date are subject to the provisions of the Final Salary Rules in relation to their Pensionable Service up to the Transition Date.
- (G) By a resolution of the States of Guernsey dated 22nd May 2019 the Principal Employer, pursuant to Rule 6.3, amended these Rules the amendments being treated as having come into effect on the Transition Date.
- (H) By a resolution of the States of Guernsey dated [x] [x] 2024 the Principal Employer, pursuant to Rule 6.3, amended these Rules the amendments being treated as having come into effect on the Approbation Date.

Operative Part

Part 1 Administrative and General Provisions (this part applies to both the CARE Scheme and the Final Salary Scheme)

1. Definitions and Interpretation

- 1.1 The following definitions and rules of interpretation apply in these Rules.
- 1.2 **Active Member:** an Employee who has been admitted to the Scheme and who is in Pensionable Service either as a Final Salary Protected Member (pursuant to the transitional provisions in Part 3) or a CARE Active Member.
- 1.3 **Actuary:** the actuary appointed in relation to the Scheme.
- 1.4 **Additional Pensionable Service:** any notional period of Service attributed to a Member on Total Incapacity or death in Service, calculated as 50% of the additional Pensionable Service that Member would have completed if he had remained in Service until reaching Normal Pension Age
- 1.4A **Applicable Gross Earnings:** has the meaning given to this term in paragraph 1 of the schedule to the Secondary Pensions Law.
- 1.4B **Approbated Benefits:** means that proportion of a Member's benefits accrued in the Scheme that is referable to:
 - (a) the period of that Member's Pensionable Service on and from the Approbation Date; and
 - (b) any Transfer Amount received by the Committee in respect of a Transfer-in Member under Rule 34 on or after the Approbation Date irrespective of whether the Transferring Scheme is an Approbated Pension Scheme and whether the Transfer Amount represents benefits accrued prior to or on or after the Approbation Date; and
 - (c) any other benefits which the Committee determines should be treated as Approbated Benefits,

with the intent that Approbated Benefits should comprise all benefits that properly should fall to be administered under an Approbated Pension Scheme by reference to and for the purposes of the Secondary Pensions Law.

- 1.4C **Approbation Date**: means 1 July 2024.
- 1.4D **Approbated Pension Scheme:** has the meaning given to this term in section 2 of the Secondary Pensions Law.
- 1.5 **Auditor:** the auditor appointed in relation to the Scheme.

- 1.6 **AVC:** means any additional voluntary contribution that an Active Member pays from time to time in addition to his Member Contributions:
 - (a) to the Defined Contribution Scheme; and or
 - (b) in the case of Final Salary Protected Members the purchase of added pension; and or
 - (c) in the case of CARE Transition Members the purchase of added pension or in mitigation of the reduction in his CARE Scheme Pension as a result of early retirement.
- 1.7 **Basic State Pension:** the States of Guernsey old age pension payable pursuant to the Social Insurance (Guernsey) Law, 1978.
- 1.8 **Beneficiary:** a beneficiary under the Scheme (including any Member and any potential or contingent beneficiary).
- 1.9 **C(G)L 2008:** Companies (Guernsey) Law 2008.
- 1.10 **CARE Active Member:** an Active Member who is accruing benefits under the CARE Rules.
- 1.11 **CARE Deferred Member:** a Deferred Member who has accrued benefits under the CARE Rules.
- 1.12 **CARE New Member:** a Member of the Scheme who joined on or after 1st May 2015.
- 1.13 **CARE Pensioner Member:** a Pensioner Member who accrued benefits under the CARE Rules.
- 1.14 **CARE Revaluation:** means revaluation with effect from 1st January in each year based on:
 - (a) For CARE New Members: the lesser of 6% and the percentage increase in the RPIX during the 12 months ending on the preceding 30th June on which the increase is to be based provided that if the increase in RPIX in that period of 12 months has exceeded 7.5% and the increases for the 12 months ending on the preceding 31st December and 31st March have also exceeded 7.5% the Committee may, having considered those factors which it considers to be appropriate, adopt a rate above 6%;

(b) For CARE Transition Members: the lesser of 7.5% and the percentage increase in the RPIX during the 12 months ending on the preceding 30 June on which the increase is to be based provided that if the increase in RPIX in that period of 12 months has exceeded 7.5% the Committee may, if it considers that the increase can be afforded from those Scheme Assets (excluding AVCs) that relate to the CARE Scheme, adopt a rate above 7.5%,

and which for the avoidance of doubt may, in its sole discretion, be different percentages for each of the following category of Member:

- a CARE Active Member, or
- a CARE Deferred Member or
- a CARE Pensioner Member

in each case who joined the Scheme as:

- a CARE New Member:
- a CARE Transition Member.

The CARE Revaluation shall only apply to benefits accrued in the CARE Scheme (as revalued) before the 1st January in the year preceding the date of the increase.

- 1.15 **CARE Rules:** the rules providing benefits on the career-average revalued earnings (CARE) basis contained in these Rules.
- 1.16 **CARE Scheme:** that part of the States of Guernsey Public Servants Pension Scheme constituted by these Rules as a career average revalued earnings pension scheme.
- 1.17 **CARE Transition Member(s):** (an) Active Member(s) of the Scheme who at the Transition Date has transferred to the CARE Scheme.
- 1.18 **Cash Equivalent:** a cash equivalent transfer value calculated by the Actuary.
- 1.19 **Civil Partner:** a person who has entered into a civil partnership with another person as defined by Section 30(1) of the Inheritance (Guernsey) Law, 2011.
- 1.20 **Committee:** Policy & Resources Committee or otherwise the committee nominated by the Principal Employer for the time being.
- 1.21 **Contribution Refund:** the sum referred to in Rule 46 and Rule 71.

- 1.22 **DC Account:** a notional account established by the Committee in the name of an Active Member to which the Committee must credit:
 - (a) AVCs paid by the Active Member to the Defined Contribution Scheme; and
 - (b) Contributions by the Employer and Active Member on Salary above the Earnings Cap;
 - (c) the investment return on the contributions within the Defined Contribution Scheme allocated by the Committee; and
 - (d) sums transferred into the DC Account.
- 1.23 **Deferred Member:** a Final Salary Deferred Member and or a CARE Deferred Member being a member who has left Pensionable Service and is entitled to a deferred pension under the Scheme that has not yet come into payment.
- 1.24 **Defined Contribution Scheme:** the arrangements referred to in Rule 44.
- 1.25 **Dependant:** an individual who, in the Committee's opinion, satisfies the meaning of "dependant" in connection with a Member.
- 1.25A **Designated Employee:** has the meaning given to this term in section 2 of the Secondary Pensions Law.
- 1.26 **Earnings Cap:** the figure which at any time
 - (a) is the top incremental scale of the salary payable to an employee of the Principal Employer with a pay grade of SO6; but
 - (b) for the avoidance of doubt the figure for the Earnings Cap is that which applies from the first of the month of the date when the first payment is made following any increase in the Principal Employer's pay grades;

provided further:

- (c) if the Principal Employer shall abolish the pay grade of SO6, then the cap in (a) shall be the figure which would most closely reflect the pay of an employee of the Principal Employer of equivalent seniority to that grade with all increments having been awarded.
- 1.27 **EEA:** the European Economic Area.

- 1.28 **EIERP:** The Employer Initiated Early Retirement Process operated by an Employer.
- 1.29 **Electronic Communication:** a means of communicating electronically, including by email to a work or personal email address, telephone texting or messaging, publication on an intranet or website, or through the use of social media networks, and whether individually addressed or sent to a group collectively.
- 1.30 **Eligible Employee:** an Employee who is:
 - (a) a permanent Employee; or
 - (b) a fixed-term Employee engaged under a contract that is at least three months in length; or
 - (c) a person not falling in (a) or (b) above who is otherwise a Designated Employee; or
 - (d) any other Employee who is invited to join the Scheme by the Principal Employer.
- 1.31 **Employee:** a person employed by an Employer.
- 1.32 **Employer:** the Principal Employer and any Participating Employer.
- 1.33 **Evidence of Financial Dependence:** evidence to the reasonable satisfaction of the Committee to be provided at the time that any claim is made by a Qualifying Partner for benefits verifying financial dependency or interdependency and which may include some or all of the following and such other evidence as may be reasonably requested by the Committee:
 - (a) that the Member and the Qualifying Partner have lived together in a shared household for not less than two years;
 - (b) that there was shared household expenditure;
 - (c) that children of the Member and the Qualifying Partner were being jointly brought up;
 - (d) that the Member and the Qualifying Partner shared bank accounts, investments and or loans:

- (e) that wills and or life insurance policies have been executed naming the Member and Qualifying Partner as the main beneficiary of the other;
- (f) that mutual powers of attorney have been executed; and
- (g) that the death of the Member has led to substantive increased living expenses for the Qualifying Partner.
- 1.34 **Exceptional Serious Ill Health Circumstances:** means that a qualified medical practitioner (and, if so required by the Committee a medical practioner appointed by the Committee), has satisfied the Committee that the life expectancy of the Member is less than one year.
- 1.35 **Final Pensionable Salary:** for a Member, means the total amount of Salary paid to him during his last year of Pensionable Service, or where this is greater, the average of the annual Salary paid to him during the highest three consecutive years within the last ten years of his Pensionable Service each of the selected three years Salary being re-valued (before averaging) by reference to any increase prior to 29th February 2016 in RPI and following that date by reference to any increase in RPIX to the retirement date or earlier death of that Member, ignoring any reduction in Salary in any of those selected three years by reason of the operation of any other Rule and provided that if a Member has a period of Part-time Service, Salary in Part-time Service shall be increased for the Final Salary Rules in accordance with the following formula:

FTP x S HP

Where:

FTP is the number of hours per calendar year which the Employer was entitled at the time to require a full-time Employee to devote to their employment; and

HP is the number of hours per calendar year which the Employer was entitled at the time to require the Member to devote to their employment; and

S is the actual total amount of Salary paid to the Member in respect of that period of qualifying Part-time Service; and

Provided that this shall not apply for the purposes of calculating any Death in Service Lump Sum payable in respect of a Member who has died whilst in Part-time Service in accordance with Rule 86.1(a).

- 1.36 **Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age:** the dates of compulsory retirement for Final Salary Protected Member as set out in the Final Salary Rules.
- 1.37 **Final Salary Deferred Member:** a Deferred Member who has accrued benefits under the Final Salary Rules.
- 1.38 **Final Salary Existing Member:** a Member of the Final Salary Scheme who (subject to any other of the Final Salary Rules):
 - (a) was a Member in Pensionable Service of the Final Salary Scheme at 31st December 2007 or
 - (b) a person entitled to receive preserved benefits under the Final Salary Rules but who had not commenced to receive them on or before 31st December 2007; or
 - (c) a person who prior to the 31st December 2007 ceased to be a Member of the Final Salary Scheme under Rule 5A of the Original Documents, and either had not commenced to receive preserved pensions and other benefits or was in receipt of a retirement pension and who subsequently re-entered the Scheme by 30th September 2008 or within 5 years and 2 days of the date of their last leaving (whichever was later) provided that this was prior to 1st May 2015 in any event and had relinquished their right to those preserved pensions and other benefits or their retirement pension (as the case may be) and who had elected to be treated as an Existing Member; or
 - (d) a person who joined the Scheme from comparable employment and who enjoyed protected rights under the pension scheme from which they transferred, and who on transferring to the Final Salary Scheme elected to be treated as an Existing Member.
- 1.39 **Final Salary New Member:** a Member of the Final Salary Scheme who is not a Final Salary Existing Member.
- 1.40 **Final Salary Normal Pension Age:** for a Final Salary Protected Member the Normal Pension Age is ascertained in accordance with Rules 75 79 inclusive.
- 1.41 **Final Salary Pensioner Member:** a Pensioner Member who accrued benefits under the Final Salary Rules.

- 1.42 **Final Salary Protected Member:** an Active Member of the Final Salary Scheme at the Transition Date, who was within 10 years of his Final Salary Normal Pension Age as at the 31st December 2013 and who is entitled to remain as a Final Salary Scheme Member under the transitional provisions, is still accruing benefits under the Final Salary Rules and has not elected to join the CARE Scheme.
- 1.43 **Final Salary Rules:** the rules providing benefits on a final salary basis contained in the Original Documents but as summarised in and amended by Part 3 and which relate to Final Salary Scheme Members and also to CARE Transition Members (in relation to their Pensionable Service prior to the Transition Date).
- 1.44 **Final Salary Scheme:** the States of Guernsey Public Servants Pension Scheme which, immediately prior to the Transition Date, was constituted by the Original Documents as a final salary pension scheme.
- 1.45 **FRC Standard:** actuarial guidance published and updated from time to time by the Financial Reporting Council.
- 1.46 **FSMA 2000:** Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.
- 1.47 **Income Tax Office:** The States of Guernsey *Revenue Service* or if the context requires *His* Majesty's Revenue and Customs.
- 1.48 **Ill-health Condition:** means the approval of the Committee to treat the Active Member as having Partial Incapacity or Total Incapacity (as the case may be),
 - (a) after having consulted with the relevant Employer;
 - (b) after having taken medical and other relevant advice as the Committee considers appropriate; and
 - (c) subject to the Committee being able to attach conditions to that approval as they consider appropriate or desirable.
- 1.49 **Insolvency Event:** means that the person concerned becomes bankrupt or has a receiving order, administration order or interim order made against him, or shall be en désastre, or who has made any composition or arrangement with or for the benefit of his creditors, or shall purport to do so, or any application shall be made for sequestration of his estate, or he shall have a preliminary vesting order made against any of his real property anywhere in the Bailiwick of Guernsey or shall otherwise be

- insolvent within the Bailiwick of Guernsey or is the subject of any equivalent event to those in any other jurisdiction, or is otherwise regarded as insolvent, in any other jurisdiction.
- 1.50 **Insurance Company:** a company that has permission under Part IV of the FSMA 2000 to effect or carry out contracts of long-term insurance, a friendly society enabled by regulations to conduct approved insurance business, or an EEA company lawfully carrying on long-term insurance business in the UK or Guernsey.
- 1.51 **IT(G)L 1975:** The Income Tax (Guernsey) Law 1975 (as amended).
- 1.52 **Liability:** any costs, charges, damages, expenses, losses, penalties or taxes which the Committee or any member or officer of that Committee may incur in connection with the Scheme.
- 1.53 **Maternity Leave:** an Active Member's absence from Service for maternity leave permitted by an Employer.
- 1.54 **Member:** an Active Member, Deferred Member or Pensioner Member.
- 1.55 **Member Contribution:** a contribution payable to the Scheme by an Active Member in accordance with these Rules.
- 1.56 **Nomination Criteria:** means:
 - (a) that the Member and the Qualifying Partner are living together in an exclusive committed long-term permanent relationship; and
 - (b) that the Member and the Qualifying Partner are both legally free to marry; and
 - (c) that neither are currently in a registered civil partnership with a third party; and
 - (d) that the nominated partner is a Dependant of the Member or that the Member and the nominated partner are financially dependent on each other; and
 - (e) includes such other nomination criteria as the Committee may from time to time require.
- 1.57 **Normal Minimum Pension Age:** Subject to any other specific provision of these Rules, including Part 7, In relation to

- (a) CARE New Members (and subject to any other specific provision of these Rules), the date on which a Member attains the age of 55 or the date which is 10 years before his Normal Pension Age whichever is later, or such other date as the Committee may from time to time resolve with the prior authority of the Principal Employer.
- (b) For CARE Transition Members and Final Salary Protected Members, the Final Salary Normal Pension Age less ten years but subject to a minimum age of 50.
- 1.58 **Normal Pension Age:** Subject to any other specific provision of these Rules, including Part 7 and Part 8,
 - (a) For a CARE New Member, the date on which a Member is entitled to receive the Basic State Pension on an unreduced basis (as established from time to time);
 - (b) For a CARE Transition Member, the date set out in the Table in Part 6 of these Rules;
 - (c) For a CARE New Member who is a member of the Guernsey Police Force, Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or Guernsey Airport Fire and Rescue Service, and who remains in Pensionable Service until age 55, the higher of age 60 or the date on which the relevant Member is entitled to receive the Basic State Pension on an unreduced basis less 7 years;
 - (d) For a CARE Transition Member who is employed by the Guernsey Police Force, Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or Guernsey Airport Fire and Rescue Service, and who under the Final Salary Scheme immediately prior to the Transition Date has a Normal Pension Age of 60 or below, and who remains in Pensionable Service until age 55, the higher of age 60 or the relevant retirement date for that Member in the Table in Part 6 less 7 years;
 - (e) For a CARE Transition Member who is employed as a Nurse or Mental Health Officer and who under the Final Salary Scheme immediately prior to the Transition Date has a Normal Pension Age below 60, and who remains in Pensionable Service until age 55, the higher of age 60 or the relevant retirement date for that Member in the Table in Part 6 less 7 years;

or such other date for (a) to (e) as the Committee may from time to time resolve with the prior authority of the States, and for the avoidance of doubt CARE New Members and CARE Transition Members who do not remain in Pensionable Service until the age of 55 fall within the provisions of paragraph (a) or (b) (as the case may be);

- (f) For a Final Salary Protected Member, the Final Salary Normal Pension Age for that Member.
- 1.58A **Non Resident Member:** is a Member who meets the conditions set out in paragraph 4(b) of paragraph 3 of the Schedule to the Secondary Pensions Law.
- 1.58B **Opt Out Members:** Eligible Employees who had eligibility prior to 1 May 2015 to join the Scheme by reason of being
 - (a) a part time employee, or
 - (b) a person who is on a fixed term contract or a contract to carry out specified work or on another temporary basis and is approved by the Committee to become a Member,

and who (in each case) has not previously opted to become a member.

- 1.59 **Ordinary Employer Contribution:** a contribution payable to the Scheme by an Employer in relation to the accrual of future Pensionable Service (determined by the date at which it is being assessed).
- 1.60 **Original Documents:** the documents that governed the Final Salary Rules as at 29th February 2016 and detailed in Part 5 of these Rules.
- 1.61 **Paid Family Leave:** a period of Maternity Leave or Paternity Leave during which an Active Member receives contractual pay or statutory maternity or paternity pay from an Employer.
- 1.62 **Partial Incapacity:** physical or mental impairment, which in the Committee's opinion is permanent and prevents a Member from undertaking his employment with an Employer.
- 1.63 **Partial Retirement Member:** an Active Member who has chosen to draw his pension in part while remaining in Pensionable Service.
- 1.64 **Participating Employer:** the Crown and or any governmental or statutory body, company, firm or person admitted to participate in the Scheme under Rule 28.

- 1.65 **Part-time Service:** a period of employment that an Active Member serves with an Employer which involves less than full-time employment and which is notified to the Committee by an Employer and which complies with the provisions of these Rules.
- 1.66 **Paternity Leave:** an Active Member's absence from Service for paternity leave permitted by an Employer.
- 1.67 **Pension:** means the pension payable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme, and (unless stated to the contrary in any particular Rule) for CARE Transition Members and Final Salary Protected Members who are Final Salary Existing Members, and CARE New Members, includes the Terminal Grant.
- 1.68 **Pensions Consultative Committee:** the Committee comprising of representatives of trade unions, retired Members and the Principal Employer established to act as a liaison group and discharge the functions set out in Rule 16 as reconstituted from time to time.
- 1.69 **Pensionable Salary:** the Salary, subject to the Earnings Cap.
- 1.70 **Pensionable Service:** the period of Service that an Active Member completes after joining the Scheme during which he accrues benefits in the Scheme, provided that this definition is modified for an Active Member with any period of Part-time Service under Rule 49 and Rule 73 or any period when he is on any leave of absence.
- 1.71 **Pensioner Member:** a former Active Member (whether a Final Salary Pensioner Member and or a CARE Pensioner Member) who is being paid a pension under the Scheme.
- 1.72 **Police and Fire-fighters Additional Contributions:** in relation to CARE Active Members additional contributions of 2.25% of Salary.
- 1.73 **Principal Employer:** The States of Guernsey acting in its capacity as Employer.
- 1.74 **PSTC:** means the Public Sector Transfer Club (which includes any successor organisation).
- 1.75 **Qualifying Child:** for a Member: a natural or adopted child, or step-child or child en ventre sa mere who:

- (a) has not reached age 18; or
- (b) who has reached age 18, and because of physical or mental impairment or was in full time education or for some other reason,

and who was in the Committee's opinion, at the date of the Member's death, a Dependant of the Member but only for as long as they remain a Qualifying Child under these Rules.

- 1.76 **Qualifying Partner:** a person who at the time of any claim satisfies the Nomination Criteria.
- 1.77 **Qualifying Recognised Overseas Pension Scheme:** the meaning given in section 150(8) of the FA 2004.
- 1.78 **Receiving Scheme:** a pension scheme permitted to receive the funds to be transferred into it under the IT(G)L 1975 provided that (except in respect of Non Resident Members), where any funds to be transferred represent Approbated Benefits, then in respect of those Approbated Benefits such a pension scheme that is also an Approbated Pension Scheme or otherwise meets the requirements imposed by or under the Secondary Pensions Law, in each case approved by the Committee.
- 1.79 **Registered Pension Scheme:** a pension scheme that is recognised by the Income Tax Office as qualifying for tax benefits under the IT(G)L 1975.
- 1.80 **Retirement Annuity Trust:** a retirement annuity trust approved by the Income Tax Office.
- 1.81 **RPIX:** the Guernsey Retail Prices Index (excluding mortgage payments) published by the States. If the Guernsey Retail Prices Index stops being published or becomes inappropriate in the Committee's opinion, the Committee may rely on any other index or measure of inflation as it considers appropriate.
- 1.82 **Rules:** these rules of the Scheme.
- 1.83 **Salary:** the annual salary or wages paid to an Active Member by his Employer, excluding payment for overtime, fees, bonuses and any other allowance or sum (except to the amount that the Committee may approve).
- 1.84 **Same Sex Spouse:** the person to whom a Member is legally married in accordance with any legislative provision permitting marriage within the

- United Kingdom or the Bailiwick of Guernsey or Jersey or such other jurisdiction as the Committee may by resolution recognise.
- 1.85 **Scheme:** the States of Guernsey (Public Servants)(Pensions and Other Benefits) Pension Scheme as at the date these Rules come into effect or as subsequently amended and which includes the CARE Scheme, the Final Salary Scheme as now constituted, and the Defined Contribution Scheme.
- **1.85A Scheme Applicable Capped Earnings:** means in respect of any period on or after the Approbation Date an Active Member's gross earnings up to and including the Earnings Cap in the relevant calendar year.
- 1.86 **Scheme Assets:** the fund to which the provisions of the Scheme apply, comprising money and other assets received by the Committee in accordance with these Rules, and all income derived from them, including AVCs.
- 1.87 **Scheme Year:** a period of 12 months ending on 31st December each year or such other period as the Committee may determine.
- 1.87A **Secondary Pensions Law:** means the Secondary Pensions (Guernsey and Alderney) Law, 2022 and includes any regulations made thereunder as from time to time amended, re-enacted (with or without modification), extended or applied.
- 1.88 **Service:** service with an Employer.
- 1.89 **Special Employer Contribution:** a contribution payable to the Scheme by an Employer in accordance with Rule 30.
- 1.90 **Spouse:** the person to whom a Member is legally married including
 - (a) a Same Sex Spouse, or a Member's Civil Partner;
 - (b) in relation to a Member who retires and dies at any time on or after 1st January 2008, with Pensionable Service after that date, and includes a Spouse of that Member cohabiting with him at the date of his death and who has, following the death of the Member, remarried.
- 1.91 **State Pension Age:** the age at which a person is entitled to receive an unreduced Basic State Pension and the date of its receipt would not be as a result of the exercise of early or other age related options.

- 1.92 **Statement of Investment Principles:** the principles adopted by the Committee for investment of Scheme Assets from time to time.
- 1.93 **States:** The States of Guernsey acting in its governmental or other capacity and not as Principal Employer.
- 1.94 **Teachers' Scheme:** The Teachers' Superannuation Scheme being the superannuation scheme regulated by The Teachers' Superannuation (Guernsey) Regulations, 2001 (the Teachers' Regulations).
- 1.95 **Temporary Participating Employer:** an employing entity admitted to participation in the Scheme as a Participating Employer for a temporary period under Rule 28.1.
- 1.96 **Terminal Grant:** means the lump sum benefit payable under the CARE Rules or the Final Salary Rules as the case may be.
- 1.96A **Table:** means the table in paragraph 1 of the Schedule to the Secondary Pensions Law.
- 1.96B **Total:** means the total percentage of a Member's Applicable Gross Earnings that must, in the aggregate, be contributed in relation to the relevant year as set out in the Table.
- 1.97 **Total Incapacity:** physical or mental impairment, which in the Committee's opinion is permanent and prevents a Member from undertaking his employment or any similar employment with any employer or only at a substantially lower rate of pay or responsibility.
- 1.98 **Transition Date:** 1st March 2016.
- 1.99 **UK:** the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.
- 1.100 **Unpaid Family Leave:** a period of Maternity Leave or Paternity Leave, which is not Paid Family Leave.
- 1.100A **Upper Earnings Limit:** has the meaning given to it under and for the purposes, at the relevant time, of regulations made under the Social Insurance (Guernsey) Law, 1978 as from time to time amended, re-enacted (with or without modification), extended or applied.
- 1.101 Rule and other headings shall not affect the interpretation of these Rules.

- 1.102 A person includes a natural person, corporate or unincorporated body (whether or not having separate legal personality) and that person's personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.
- 1.103 A reference to a **company** shall include any company, corporation or other body corporate, wherever and however incorporated or established.
- 1.104 Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular shall include the plural and in the plural shall include the singular.
- 1.105 Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to one gender shall include a reference to the other genders.
- 1.106 A reference to any party shall include that party's personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.
- 1.107 A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as amended, extended or re-enacted from time to time.
- 1.108 A reference to a statute or statutory provision shall include all subordinate legislation made from time to time.
- 1.109 A reference to writing or written includes fax and Electronic Communication.
- 1.110 Any obligation on a party not to do something includes an obligation not to allow that thing to be done.
- 1.111 A reference to these Rules or to any other document referred to in these Rules is a reference to these Rules as varied from time to time.
- 1.112 References to Rules are to the Rules of this Scheme unless the context otherwise expressly states.
- 1.113 Any words following the terms including, include, in particular, for example or any similar expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the words, description, definition, phrase or term preceding those terms.

2. Governing law

These Rules and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with them or their subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of Guernsey.

3. Jurisdiction

The courts of Guernsey shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with these Rules or their subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims).

4. Amendment of the Scheme

- 4.1 With effect from the Transition Date, the Scheme must be administered under these Rules.
- 4.2 The entitlement to and calculation of benefits of any Member who
 - (a) ceased to be an Active Member; or
 - (b) died before the Transition Date;
 - (c) or any person claiming for such Member,

is not affected by the provisions of these Rules except as otherwise provided in these Rules. Nothing in these Rules operates so as to invalidate or affect any act or the exercise of any power, discretion or right before the date of these Rules by the Employers or the Committee or the States in respect of the Scheme.

5. Constitution of the Scheme

The sole purpose of the Scheme is to provide benefits for Beneficiaries. Benefits are provided on the basis set out in these Rules.

6. Amending the Rules

- 6.1 Subject to Rule 6.3 and Rule 16, the Principal Employer may at its sole discretion amend, alter, rescind or add to any provision of these Rules, including this Rule.
- 6.2 The Principal Employer undertakes to make any amendments or additions to these Rules that are required by law.
- 6.3 The Principal Employer must effect any amendment made under Rule 6.1 by a resolution of the States approving written amendments to the Rules.
- 6.4 The Principal Employer must not without a resolution of the States amend these Rules in a manner which would or might:

- (a) change the sole purpose of the Scheme;
- (b) prejudice the Scheme's status as a Registered Pension Scheme or a Qualifying Recognised Overseas Pension Scheme; or
- (c) detrimentally affect the subsisting rights of a Member, unless:
 - (i) the Principal Employer has taken steps to ensure that the actuarial value of the Member's benefits must be maintained after the amendment is made and the Actuary has provided a statement of actuarial equivalence; or
 - (ii) the Member whose subsisting rights are affected by the amendment consents to the amendment in writing, or consultation has taken place in accordance with Rule 16.
- 6.5 The power in Rule 6.1 may be exercised at any time, including retrospectively. If the power is exercised retrospectively, the Principal Employer may administer the Scheme, until the States have approved new Rules making retrospective amendments to these Rules, as if the amendments were already effective.

7. Scheme Assets

- 7.1 The Principal Employer holds the Scheme Assets to be applied in accordance with and subject to the provisions of these Rules.
- 7.2 No Member has an interest in any surplus that arises in the Scheme.

8. Tax registration

- 8.1 The Scheme qualifies as a Registered Pension Scheme and as a Qualifying Recognised Overseas Pension Scheme.
- 8.2 The Principal Employer must provide any information to the Income Tax Office that is properly required to satisfy any legal requirement necessary to ensure that contributions are deductible for tax purposes.

8A Secondary Pensions Law

On and from the Approbation Date the Scheme is to be administered as an Approbated Pension Scheme with the intent that it is to meet the obligations of the Employers in respect of their Designated Employees, and such other of their Employees who has and exercises their entitlement to opt in, under and for the purposes of the Secondary Pensions Law and all Approbated Benefits held for

the purposes of the Scheme are to be administered in a manner consistent with that law.

9. Equal treatment

To the extent necessary to comply with any anti-discrimination and equality legislation that is now or at any time in the future introduced in Guernsey, these Rules are deemed to include a non-discrimination rule so as to prevent a Member from being treated less favourably than another Member.

10. The Committee

- 10.1 The Committee is responsible for administering the Scheme and for making recommendations to the Principal Employer concerning the benefits and contributions to be payable to, or by, Members and or an Employer, and shall report as may be necessary to the States on the Scheme including making any recommendations on any changes to benefits, contributions, these Rules or any other matter as they shall consider appropriate.
- 10.2 The Committee may delegate all or any of their responsibilities to a sub-committee, and may amend or revoke in whole or in part that delegation at any time. The provisions of these Rules apply equally to the sub-committee to the extent that they are exercising functions and responsibilities on behalf of the Committee.
- 10.3 If the Committee wishes to increase the benefits but not contributions under the Scheme, (whether they are payable at that time or are payable in the future to a Deferred Member), any resolution of the Committee to that effect shall be valid and effective as if it had been passed by the States. A resolution of the Committee under this sub-Rule shall be forwarded to the President of the Policy & Resources Committee as soon as practicable for publication in a Billet d'État at the next opportunity.
- 10.4 The Principal Employer may at any time transfer the functions under these Rules from the Committee to another designated committee, sub-committee or body.

11. Committee: decisions, exercise of discretions and confidentiality

11.1 The Committee may exercise any discretion conferred on it by these Rules absolutely and as it considers appropriate, provided that the Committee must not take any step to prejudice the Scheme's status as a Registered Pension Scheme or a Qualifying Recognised Overseas Pension Scheme or the eligibility of Members to claim tax benefits against their contributions. In exercising its discretion about whether any benefit should be paid to any person under the

Scheme, the Committee is not required to consider the claim of any person except a Beneficiary (or a potential or contingent Beneficiary) whose existence has been expressly notified to the Committee or whom the Committee can identify by making reasonable enquiries.

- 11.2 Subject to Rule 6, the Committee may ratify, alter or revoke any decision taken by it about the Scheme (including any exercise of discretion and any administrative act or omission) if it considers that doing so would not have a materially detrimental effect on the Scheme (including on the benefits paid to a Member), provided that if the consent of the States was required to a decision or act, that consent must be obtained to any ratification, alteration or revocation of the Committee's initial decision.
- 11.3 If the Committee is required to obtain the consent of an Employer to a decision or exercise of discretion, it is entitled to treat written instructions received from a director or senior authorised officer of the Employer as confirmation of that Employer's consent.
- In administering the Scheme, the Committee may decide any matter of doubt arising under these Rules about an issue of fact or law. In considering any issue of fact, the Committee may act on the basis of such evidence it considers appropriate, provided that it may accept any information about a Beneficiary supplied by an Employer as conclusive evidence without further enquiry (except in cases of manifest error).
- 11.5 If any time limit for taking any step is specified by these Rules, the Committee may waive or vary that time limit as it considers appropriate, except in the case of any time limit prescribed by law.
- 11.6 If a member or officer of the Committee holds information which they are under a duty to an Employer to keep confidential (either under the general law or by agreement) (Confidential Information), then that member or officer of the Committee is entitled to refuse to disclose the Confidential Information to any person (including another member of the Committee), provided that as soon as reasonably practicable after first receiving the Confidential Information (or ascertaining that the Confidential Information may be relevant to the Scheme) the member or officer of the Committee notifies the Committee in writing that he is subject to a conflict of duty and indicates whether or not it is appropriate that he participates in any future discussion about that matter.
- 11.7 Nothing in this Rule imposes any more onerous duty of confidentiality on a member or officer of the Committee than he would be subject to under the general law.

12. Committee: administration and delegation powers

- 12.1 The duties to administer and manage the Scheme are vested in the Committee. The Committee must establish and operate internal controls in accordance with accepted standards of corporate governance adopted by the States of Guernsey including Rules relating to the Constitution and Operation of States Departments and Committees, Code of Conduct for States Members and Code of Conduct for Civil Servants (as relevant). In discharging its powers, the Committee may make such regulations or rules relating to the administration and management of the Scheme as it considers appropriate, including the power to constitute one or more sub-committees on such terms as the Committee considers appropriate, provided that such regulations or rules do not conflict with these Rules or the corporate governance requirements referred to in this Rule.
- 12.2 Subject to Rule 17 of these Rules, the Committee may, on such terms as it considers appropriate:
 - (a) delegate any of its powers, duties or discretions to any person, for such purpose and for such duration as the Committee considers appropriate;
 - (b) authorise any person to provide receipts or discharges; and
 - (c) engage any person to assist in administering the Scheme.
- 12.3 A delegate, agent or consultant appointed by the Committee under Rule 12.2 may receive such remuneration as the Committee considers appropriate, payable as an expense of the Scheme under Rule 32.
- 12.4 The Committee is not obliged to disclose any documents, information or records relating to the Scheme (in whole or in part) unless ordered to do so by a court or a tribunal of competent jurisdiction. But this duty does not affect the Committee's obligation to disclose such information, make such statements and provide (or make available) copies of such documents to Beneficiaries, the States, Employers or others as may be reasonably required by the rules of good corporate governance to which the Committee is subject or pursuant to any relevant legal requirement.
- 12.5 Any notice that the Committee is required to provide to a Beneficiary under these Rules is deemed to have been properly provided if the Committee has sent the notice in writing to the Beneficiary's address most recently known to the Committee or (in the case of an Active Member) to the address of the Member's usual place of employment.

- 12.6 Any notice of a matter that these Rules requires to be given to the Committee must be given in such form and manner required by the Committee, with such supporting evidence (if any) as the Committee may stipulate.
- 12.7 The Committee may publish announcements or provide information about the Scheme to a Beneficiary in such written form as it considers appropriate. Information disclosed to a Beneficiary may be given by means of Electronic Communication, provided that the Beneficiary is entitled to notify the Committee in writing that he does not want to receive such information by this means. If a Beneficiary notifies the Committee accordingly, the Committee must continue disclosing information to him in a suitable non-electronic written form.

13. Litigation and disputes

- 13.1 The Committee may take any step that it considers necessary to maintain the Scheme Assets or the rights of Beneficiaries, consistent with the purposes of the Scheme and provided that the Committee is not obliged to start, continue or defend any legal proceedings concerning the Scheme. Without prejudice to the generality of this power, such steps may include:
 - (a) starting, continuing, defending, settling or compromising legal proceedings about any dispute of fact or law in connection with the Scheme or any Beneficiary's rights under it (whether in court or before a tribunal and including submitting any matter to arbitration, mediation or any other form of alternative dispute resolution); and
 - (b) guaranteeing the payment of any sum or the performance of any obligation or indemnifying any person against any liability, loss or expense.
- 13.2 The Committee may put in place arrangements for the resolution of disputes about matters relating to the Scheme including alternative dispute resolution procedures including mediation and or expert determination. Any agreement or determinations under these arrangements are final and binding on all persons including Members even if they have not been party to those arrangements.

14. Accounts and records

- 14.1 The Committee must ensure that at all times it complies with the record-keeping requirements as required by the Principal Employer. Without prejudice to these requirements, the Committee must keep and maintain the following:
 - (a) accounts for the Scheme, including records of all expenditure from the Scheme during a Scheme Year (both the payment of benefits to

- Beneficiaries and otherwise). The accounts must be submitted each year to the Auditor appointed in accordance with Rule 17.2;
- (b) records of meetings of the Committee, including any decisions taken at such meetings. Any minute of a meeting of the Committee that has been signed by the President or chairman is conclusive evidence of the decisions taken at that meeting;
- (c) records of the Scheme's membership, including the dates on which Members joined the Scheme, left Pensionable Service and reached Normal Pension Age (as appropriate);
- (d) records of the Member Contributions and AVCs paid to the Scheme;
- (e) records of any complaints made by Members or disputes with Members, including details of the resolution of those complaints or disputes; and
- (f) records of the identity of the Participating Employers, the amounts of Ordinary Employer Contributions and Special Employer Contributions paid in accordance with Rule 30 and any other amounts received by the Scheme.
- 14.2 If the Committee keeps any records required by Rule 14.1 in electronic form, it may destroy any corresponding paper records, which have been kept and which are also in electronic form.
- 14.3 The Committee must obtain audited accounts for a Scheme Year as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of that Scheme Year and in any event no later than is necessary to present those accounts to the States (together with the other accounts of the States).

15. **Dealings with the Committee**

- 15.1 A person dealing in good faith with the Committee need not question or investigate:
 - (a) whether the Committee can or should properly exercise a purported power or discretion;
 - (b) the authority of the Committee to transfer money or assets to him; or
 - (c) how the Committee applies money or assets paid by him to the Committee.

- 15.2 A person dealing in good faith with any person appointed, delegated or authorised by the Committee under Rule 12.2 may assume and act on the assumption that the person has been properly appointed, delegated or authorised by the Committee unless he has received notice in writing from the Committee that its authority has been revoked.
- 15.3 A receipt signed by any member or officer of the Committee is a complete discharge to any person dealing in good faith with the Committee.
- 15.4 Any dealing by a person acting in good faith with the Committee (or a person appointed, delegated or authorised by the Committee) referred to in this Rule is deemed to be valid and has full effect.

16. Consultation with the Pensions Consultative Committee

- 16.1 The Committee shall consult with the Pensions Consultative Committee on any decision that relates to:
 - (a) increase in Member Contributions including under Rule 30;
 - (b) alterations to benefits payable under the Scheme;
 - (c) any proposed amendments to the Rules; and
 - (d) such other matters of general relevance to Members (other than specific cases) as the Committee and the Pensions Consultative Committee shall agree.
- 16.2 The Committee shall in good faith take into account representations made to them by the Pensions Consultative Committee subject nevertheless to the Committee's overriding duty to the States and the Scheme.
- 16.3 The Pensions Consultative Committee shall be constituted as agreed by the Principal Employer from time to time with equal numbers of representatives nominated by the Committee and members nominated by the Association of States Employees' Organisations and one additional Member nominated by the Retired States Employees' Association.

17. Appointing professional advisers

- 17.1 The Committee must appoint in writing from time to time on such terms as it considers appropriate an Actuary. The Actuary must:
 - (a) be a Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries;

- (b) not be prohibited from acting as Actuary by section 27 of the Pensions Act 1995 (as if that Act applied in Guernsey); and
- (c) provide valuations and reports in accordance with Rule 18.
- 17.2 The Committee must appoint in writing from time to time on such terms as it considers appropriate an Auditor. The Auditor must:
 - (a) be an individual or firm qualified to act as statutory auditor of a private company under section 260 of the C(G)L 2008;
 - (b) not be prohibited from acting as Auditor by section 27 of the Pensions Act 1995 (as if that Act applied in Guernsey); and
 - (c) audit the Scheme's accounts in accordance with Rule 14.3.
- 17.3 The Auditor may be the same auditor appointed by the States to audit the States financial statements.
- 17.4 The Committee must appoint in writing from time to time one or more investment managers for the Scheme Assets to whom the Committee may delegate its investment powers in connection with the Scheme Assets. An investment manager appointed under this Rule must be authorised under any relevant financial services legislation including FSMA 2000 and must manage the investment of the Scheme Assets in accordance with Rule 20.
- 17.5 The Committee may from time to time appoint in writing any medical practitioner, financial adviser or other professional whom the Committee considers competent to give advice on such terms as it considers appropriate for the purposes of advising the Committee in the administration of the Scheme.
- 17.6 The Committee may remove any professional adviser appointed under this Rule by giving them notice in writing.
- 17.7 Subject to Rule 25, the Committee may in good faith rely and act on the advice or opinion of any professional adviser duly appointed under this Rule and is not liable for any loss to the Scheme arising from such reliance.
- 17.8 The costs and expenses incurred in engaging any adviser under this Rule may be paid as an expense of the Scheme in accordance with Rule 32.

18. Actuarial valuations

The Committee must commission from the Actuary such valuations and reports as it considers appropriate. Valuations must be commissioned on the basis that the effective date of each valuation is not more than:

- (a) one year after the effective date of the previous valuation; or
- (b) three years after the effective date of the previous valuation if the Committee has obtained a report from the Actuary in each of the intervening years.

19. Personal interests of a Committee officer

- 19.1 A Committee officer who is also a Beneficiary may retain any benefits to which he is entitled under the Scheme and is not obliged to account for any such benefits.
- 19.2 A Committee officer who is also a Beneficiary or has any other direct or indirect personal interest in any decision to be made or power or discretion to be exercised by the Committee must disclose his personal interest in the Scheme at the start of each meeting of the Committee.
- 19.3 No decision of a Committee officer or the exercise of any power or discretion under the Scheme by a Committee officer is invalidated on the basis that the Committee officer is also a Beneficiary or has any other direct or indirect personal interest in the outcome.

20. Committee's investment powers

- 20.1 Subject to Rule 20.2 and Rule 20.3, the Committee has the power to invest the Scheme Assets as if it were absolutely and beneficially entitled to them. The Committee may invest or apply the Scheme Assets in any manner, whether or not involving liability or producing income, and whether or not authorised by law as an appropriate investment of trust assets.
- 20.2 Without prejudice to Rule 20.1, the Committee must only invest or apply all of the Scheme Assets in accordance with the States of Guernsey Permitted Investment (Amendment) Rules, 2015, as amended from time to time. The Committee shall adopt a written Statement of Investment Principles and may amend this from time to time but the Statement of Investment Principles must at all times be in compliance with the States of Guernsey Permitted Investment (Amendment) Rules, 2015, (as amended from time to time).

- 20.3 In exercising its powers of investment for the Scheme Assets, the Committee:
 - (a) may take any further steps necessary to discharge any of the powers referred to in Rule 20.2;
 - (b) must not carry on a trading activity;
 - (c) must not make any loan to a Member or Beneficiary which is unsecured or secured against his interest in the Scheme, or guarantee the repayment of all or part of a loan made to a Member or Beneficiary.
- 20.4 The Committee must maintain and, from time to time, review and revise the written Statement of Investment Principles relating to the Scheme Assets, provided that:
 - (a) nothing in the Statement of Investment Principles requires the Committee to obtain the consent of the Principal Employer before it exercises any investment powers; and
 - (b) in reviewing or revising the Statement of Investment Principles, the Committee must from time to time obtain the consent of any designated committee or other part of the States who has been delegated to manage, implement, review or revise the Statement of Investment Principles.
- 20.5 The Committee may borrow any sum in any currency in the exercise of any of its powers under the Scheme. In exercising this power, the Committee may,
 - (a) secure performance of any obligation on such terms as it considers appropriate; and
 - (b) charge any sum borrowed.
- 20.6 The Committee may from time to time maintain a reserve fund in cash with any bank or institution deemed appropriate. In maintaining the reserve fund, the Committee must have regard to the likely demands on the income of the Scheme from time to time.
- 20.7 The Committee may accept donations or bequests from any person or company to be applied for the purposes of the Scheme.
- 20.8 In exercising its powers in this Rule, the Committee may give any guarantee, warranty or undertaking as it considers necessary in entering into a transaction with another party.

21. Delegation of investment powers and administration of investments

- 21.1 The Committee are not obliged to open and operate any separate bank account, and may operate through any bank account of the States, but the States may do so on such terms as it considers appropriate and shall be entitled to delegate the operation of the bank account to the Committee or any designated committee or other part of the States.
- 21.2 The Committee may appoint on such terms as it considers appropriate any:
 - (a) custodian, to hold documents of title of any of the Scheme Assets in safe custody (whether within or outside Guernsey);
 - (b) nominee, in whose name any investment of the Scheme Assets may be made, and to whom the Committee may delegate any of its relevant powers and discretions.
- 21.3 In appointing a custodian or nominee under this Rule, the Committee may enter into an agreement on commercial terms (including about remuneration, subdelegation and the appointment of sub-nominees or agents).
- 21.4 The Committee must take all such steps as are reasonable to satisfy itself that an investment manager appointed under Rule 17.4:
 - (a) has the appropriate knowledge and experience for managing the investments of the Scheme; and
 - (b) is carrying out his work competently.
- 21.5 If the Committee appoints a nominee under Rule 21.2, the Committee may allow the nominee to pass any documents of title relating to the Scheme Assets to a custodian of the nominee's choosing.
- 21.6 Any documents of title held by a custodian appointed by the Committee or the Committee's nominee must be held to the order of the Committee (or the nominee as the case may be) and the Committee is not responsible if they are lost or destroyed.
- 21.7 The Committee may remove any custodian, nominee or investment manager it has appointed by giving such notice in writing as it may from time to time decide.

22. Payment of benefits: general provisions

- 22.1 The Committee may make such arrangement as it considers appropriate for the payment of benefits under the Scheme.
- 22.2 A pension payable to a Beneficiary under the Scheme is (subject to any other Rule) payable for the remaining lifetime of the Beneficiary and paid in equal weekly or monthly instalments in arrears on such date as the Committee may determine, provided that:
 - (a) if the first regular payment date falls after the date the pension comes into payment under these Rules, the Committee may vary the amount of the first instalment to take into account the additional period of entitlement;
 - (b) a pension is ordinarily payable in pounds sterling and if for any reason a pension is payable in any other currency, the Committee may convert the pension into the other currency at a rate of its choosing and the Beneficiary concerned must pay the cost of such conversion;
 - (c) the Committee must notify a Beneficiary in advance of the date his pension is due to start and of any changes to the regular payment date; and
 - (d) if the Committee considers that the amount of the pension payable is insufficiently large to justify its payment in equal weekly or monthly instalments, it may pay the pension at such other intervals as it considers appropriate (which must be no less often than annually).
- 22.3 Before starting to pay a benefit due under the Scheme to a Beneficiary, (or at any other time) the Committee may write to the Beneficiary at his last known address asking him to:
 - (a) confirm his existence. If the Committee receives no response from the Beneficiary within such reasonable period as it may specify, it may assume he is no longer alive and is not required to take any further steps to trace the Beneficiary; and
 - (b) provide such other information or evidence as it considers appropriate, including such written consent as is necessary to enable the Committee to comply with the requirements about the processing of personal data contained in The Data Protection (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law 2017.
- 22.4 In calculating benefits due to a Beneficiary, the Committee may round instalments to avoid fractional payments.

- 22.5 A benefit due to a Beneficiary under the Scheme may not be put into payment if more than six years have passed from the date on which the Beneficiary became entitled to receive the benefit and the Beneficiary has not claimed the benefit. But the Committee may allow arrears of such unpaid benefits to be paid if it considers appropriate.
- 22.6 If the Committee ascertains that it has relied on incorrect information in determining the amount of a benefit payable to a Beneficiary under the Scheme (including information about the Beneficiary's age, marital status or state of health and whether that information was supplied inadvertently or deliberately and including a failure to disclose material information or correct inaccurate records held by the Committee), the Committee may amend the benefit and instead pay the benefit calculated on the basis of correct information. If a Beneficiary has received an overpayment of benefits as a result, the Committee may reduce future instalments of any pension due to the extent necessary to recover the overpayment.
- 22.7 If a Beneficiary is a minor or is suffering from any mental or physical incapacity which in the opinion of the Committee renders him incapable of managing his affairs, the Committee may:
 - (a) pay or apply to any person for the Beneficiary's maintenance or on his behalf any benefit to which the Beneficiary is entitled under the Scheme, including any Dependant, guardian or the trustees of any irrevocable trust or settlement established for his benefit; or
 - (b) make any election or deem as given any notice required under these Rules on behalf of the Beneficiary concerned.
- 22.8 For the purposes of Rule 22.7, the Committee may accept as conclusive evidence of a Beneficiary's state of health the opinion of a qualified medical practitioner.
- 22.9 If a Beneficiary is imprisoned or detained in legal custody while his pension under the Scheme is being paid, the Committee may pay the pension to a Dependant of the Beneficiary instead for the duration of the Beneficiary's imprisonment or detention.
- 22.10 Subject to Rule 23, the Committee may deduct from any benefit due to a Beneficiary an amount corresponding to any tax that it is liable to pay or account for to the Income Tax Office or any other tax authority.
- 22.11 The Committee may exercise the power contained in Rule 22.10 in circumstances where it is jointly liable with any other person to pay tax.

22.12 No interest shall accrue on any amount payable under these Rules that is paid after its due date unless otherwise specified in these Rules or the Committee and the Principal Employer decide to pay interest.

23. Prohibition on assignment and forfeiture of benefits

- 23.1 Subject to Rule 23.2, a benefit or prospective benefit under the Scheme is forfeited and no longer payable if:
 - (a) a person entitled to the benefit assigns or charges the benefit (or tries to do so); or
 - (b) an event occurs by which all or part of the benefit or prospective benefit would become payable to some other person, were it not for this Rule.
- 23.2 If a benefit or prospective benefit is forfeited under Rule 23.1, the Committee may apply some or all of the benefit or prospective benefit otherwise due to support and maintain the Beneficiary or any Dependant, but the Committee must make no payment in favour of an assignee or chargee (or purported assignee or chargee).

24. Reducing benefits because of a charge, lien or set-off

- 24.1 The Committee may impose a charge, lien or set off on a Member's benefits including any refund of contributions (whether or not in payment) if the Member is liable to pay a sum to his Employer or the Scheme or to the States of Guernsey in whatever capacity for whatever reason including as a result of a criminal, fraudulent or negligent act or omission by him or in respect of any debt.
- 24.2 If a charge, lien or set-off has been imposed under Rule 24.1, the Committee may reduce the Member's benefits by an amount which the Actuary advises is equal to the debt owed to the Scheme or the Employer on the date the debt arose. If the debt exceeds the value of the Member's benefits, the benefits must be stopped. In deciding the reduction to make, the Committee may take into account the value of any benefits payable on the Member's death, but the Committee must not reduce the following benefits:
 - (a) benefits payable following a transfer payment to the Scheme;
 - (b) benefits payable to a Spouse, Qualifying Partner or Qualifying Child.

- 24.3 The Committee must certify to the Member in writing the amount of the debt due to the Scheme or the Employer and the amount by which his benefits have been or will be reduced.
- 24.4 If the Member disputes the charge, lien or set-off, the Committee must not reduce his benefits until the debt due to the Scheme or the Employer has become enforceable under a court order or under any other dispute resolution procedure.
- 24.5 An Employer may deduct from its Ordinary Employer Contributions payable under Rule 30 an amount equal to the debt owed by the Member to the Employer or, if less, the value of the Member's benefits as determined by the Actuary.

25. Committee liability: limitations

- 25.1 The Committee is not liable for any liability arising from:
 - (a) any fall in the market value of the Scheme Assets from time to time;
 - (b) any failure by a Member to receive his benefits due under the Scheme if this failure is attributable to the method by which benefits are paid;
 - (c) the payment of any benefits due under the Scheme to the wrong person;
 - (d) any failure to recover overpayments of pension instalments made to a Member after the Member has stopped being entitled to receive a pension; or
 - (e) any failure to ensure the safety of any documents of title deposited by the Committee with a custodian or otherwise;
 - (f) any act or omission of a nominee, agent or person to whom the Committee has delegated any of its powers under Rule 12.2; or
 - (g) any personal liability of a Committee member that is exempted under Rule 26 or for which the Committee is granted relief by the court.
- 25.2 The Committee is not obliged to take any steps to recover any loss arising as a result of any of the acts or omissions referred to in Rule 25.1.

26. Committee liability: exemption and indemnity

26.1 A Committee officer is not personally liable arising from any breach of duty or trust under the Scheme unless the breach is caused by:

- (a) his fraudulent or dishonest conduct; or
- (b) his wilful neglect or default.
- 26.2 The Principal Employer is liable to indemnify a Committee officer for any liability he incurs, provided that this indemnity does not apply:
 - (a) to any liability for which a Committee officer is personally liable under Rule 26.1(a) or Rule 26.1(b); or
 - (b) to the extent that there is insurance available to a Committee officer under a policy of insurance taken out by the States (in whatever capacity).

27. Principal Employer: covenants and replacement

- 27.1 The Principal Employer covenants to observe and perform the provisions of these Rules insofar as they relate to it.
- 27.2 No provision of these Rules may be construed as imposing on an Employer a contractual obligation to restrict the right of an Employer to terminate an Employee's service. Nor may any provision of these Rules be used to increase damages or compensation sought by an Employee in any action, counter-claim or proceedings brought by an Employee against an Employer about the termination of his employment.
- 27.3 Subject to Rule 11, the Principal Employer may ratify, alter or revoke any decision taken by it concerning the Scheme (including any exercise of discretion and any administrative act or omission) if it considers that doing so would not have a materially detrimental effect on the Scheme (including on the benefits paid to a Member), provided that if the Committee's consent to a decision or act was required, the Committee's consent must be obtained to any ratification, alteration or revocation of the Principal Employer's initial decision.

28. Participating Employers: admission to the Scheme

28.1 Subject to Rule 28.2 at the direction of the Principal Employer the Committee must admit any Participating Employer, including as a Temporary Participating Employer, provided this does not prejudice the Scheme's status as a Registered Pension Scheme or Qualifying Recognised Overseas Pension Scheme. A new Participating Employer must execute a participation agreement with the Principal Employer and the Committee in a form stipulated by the Principal Employer and must covenant with the Committee that it will discharge the duties and obligations imposed on it as a Participating Employer under these Rules.

- A Participating Employer may be admitted under Rule 28.1 on special terms determined by the Principal Employer, in connection with the calculation of Member Contributions, provided these do not prejudice the status of the Scheme as a Registered Pension Scheme or Qualifying Recognised Overseas Pension Scheme.
- 28.3 A Participating Employer must take all steps required by the Committee that are necessary for the running of the Scheme, including providing to the Committee any information it reasonably requests for use in running the Scheme.
- 28.4 A Participating Employer must pay contributions to the Scheme in accordance with Rule 30.
- 28.5 The Committee or Principal Employer may terminate the participation in the Scheme of any Participating Employer by giving notice in writing if either considers the Participating Employer to be in breach of any of its obligations under the Scheme (including but not limited to a failure to pay contributions due under the Scheme), provided the Participating Employer has first been given notice in writing requiring any breach to be remedied within 30 days (or such longer period as the Committee or Principal Employer may allow) and such notice has expired without the breach being remedied.

29. Actuarial Deficit or Surplus

- 29.1 If a valuation or report of the Actuary under Rule 18 identifies that the value of the Scheme Assets is less than the Scheme's liabilities, the Committee should consider such steps acting on the advice of the Actuary as to how the deficit may be remedied. Without limitation, these steps may include:
 - (a) requiring the Employers to pay Special Employer Contributions in accordance with Rule 30;
 - (b) entering into alternative arrangements with the Principal Employer that provide for the deficit to be eliminated over such period as may be agreed with the Principal Employer or provides for an informal guarantee, letter of comfort or indemnity in relation to securing the deficit; and
 - (c) Subject to Rule 30, amending these Rules in accordance with Rule 6.
- 29.2 If a valuation or report of the Actuary identifies that the value of the Scheme Assets exceeds the Scheme's liabilities, the Committee may consider such steps as it considers appropriate acting on the advice of the Actuary to apply the surplus. Without limitation, these steps may include:

- (a) retaining the surplus in the Scheme to cover future liabilities;
- (b) reducing Ordinary Employer Contributions or Member Contributions for such period as the Actuary considers appropriate;
- (c) improving the benefits granted to Members or granting additional benefits to Members; or
- (d) allocating the surplus for the benefit of Beneficiaries or the Employers in such other manner as may be permitted by law.

30. Participating Employers: paying contributions, Cost Cap and Cost Floor

- 30.1 An Employer must pay to the Committee Ordinary Employer Contributions at the rate as the Committee may from time to time by resolution decide having obtained the advice of the Actuary.
- 30.2 The Ordinary Employer Contributions payable by the Principal Employer and determined by the Committee in a year of assessment to this Scheme must not exceed
 - (a) in the case of CARE New Members 14%; and
 - (b) in the case of CARE Transition Members and Final Salary Protected Members 14.5%,

of the Member's Pensionable Salary for that year of Service (the Cost Cap) except, with the agreement of the Committee, in circumstances where an actuarial certificate cannot be provided for the purposes of paragraph 1(2)(c)(ii)(A) of the schedule to the Secondary Pensions Law . The actual contribution shall be that made in accordance with the provisions of this Rule 30.

- 30.3 The Employer's contribution paid on Salary in excess of the Earnings Cap is at the rate of 12% of that excess Salary. Such contribution is paid to the Defined Contribution Scheme and notionally credited to the Member's DC Account.
- 30.4 The Ordinary Employer Contributions payable by the Principal Employer will be reviewed and compared with the Cost Cap every three years to coincide with the Actuarial Valuations carried out under Rule 18, the first review to be with effect from the valuation due on 31st December 2019.
- 30.5 At each review, if the cost of the Scheme would result in the Ordinary Employer Contributions rate payable by the Principal Employer exceeding the Cost Cap, negotiations will take place through the Pensions Consultative Committee to

either reduce the future accrual rates for Pensions or to increase Member Contributions or both to bring the Ordinary Employer Contributions to the Cost Cap. The default position, in the absence of agreement, will be a reduction in the future accrual rates. The Ordinary Employer Contribution rate for the purposes of comparison with the Cost Cap in Rule 30.4 (and the Cost Floor in Rule 30.8) will only include:

- (a) the Future Service Contribution Rate less Member Contributions; and
- (b) any past service costs or savings in relation to the Scheme in relation to Pensionable Service from the Transition Date relating to improving or reducing longevity of Active Members.

The **Future Service Contribution Rate** means the rate to be paid in respect of the cost of future Service accrual.

- 30.6 The calculation of Ordinary Employer Contributions for comparison with the Cost Cap in Rule 30.4 (and the Cost Floor in Rule 30.8) will identify any change in Members' costs which relate to the profile and options of Members including changes in life expectancy, changes to the age profile of the membership, changes to the way Members select options, changes to the dependency details and the incidence of leavers and retirements.
- 30.7 For the avoidance of doubt those elements of the change in the calculation of Ordinary Employer Contributions for comparison with the Cost Cap in Rule 30.4 (and the Cost Floor in Rule 30.8) which are Employer's costs, being those decisions and assumptions that must be made to carry out a valuation and are financial and technical in nature, including changes to the discount rate (which may be driven by a change in investment strategy), actuarial methodology for calculating Scheme costs and changes in the price inflation assumption, shall be the responsibility of the Employer.
- 30.8 If following a valuation the Principal Employer Ordinary Employer Contributions are (in the case of CARE Transition Members) below 10.5% of the Member's Pensionable Salary and (in the case of CARE New Members) below the Member Contributions (the Cost Floor), negotiations will take place as described in Rule 30.5 as to whether the Members' Contributions will be reduced or the accrual rate increased (or both) to bring the Principal Employer's Ordinary Employer Contributions to the Cost Floor. If there is no agreement as to whether to reduce Members' Contributions or increase the accrual rate the default position is to increase the accrual rate.
- 30.9 The Employer shall bear the investment risk, and if a shortfall arises by reason of a failure to achieve the targeted investment returns or for another reason arising

from the Employer's costs, then the total contributions paid by the Principal Employer may be increased above the Cost Cap to meet the costs arising from the Employer's costs. Equally, if higher than targeted returns are achieved from the investment risk, the total Employer contributions may be decreased below the Cost Floor to reflect the surplus arising from the increased returns or other reason arising from the Employer's costs.

- 30.10 An Employer must pay to the Committee such Special Employer Contributions as are required by the Committee and approved by the States by resolution from time to time, having obtained the advice of the Actuary, to reduce or eliminate any deficit in the Scheme identified by the Actuary in a valuation or report under Rule 18.
- 30.11 Any Special Employer Contributions payable by an Employer may be paid in such instalments and over such period agreed by the Committee, having obtained the advice of the Actuary.
- 30.12 An Employer must pay to the Committee any amounts for which it is liable in accordance with this Rule 30.
- 30.13 A Participating Employer may suspend or terminate its further liability to pay Ordinary Employer Contributions (but not Special Employer Contributions) to the Scheme by giving at least 30 days' notice in writing to the Committee, having first obtained the consent of the Principal Employer. If the Committee receives such notice, it may suspend or reduce the accrual of further benefits and the payment of death in Service benefits to Members and their Dependants for the duration of the suspension.
- 30.14 An Employer must pay to the Committee an amount equal to the Member Contributions paid by Active Members in its employment.
- 30.15 The Committee must prepare, and from time to time review and if necessary revise, a schedule of contributions and all contributions payable by an Employer under this Rule are payable in accordance with it.
- 30.16 If an Employer pays Ordinary Employer Contributions or Special Employer Contributions to the Scheme in error, the Committee may return them subject to any requirements of the Income Tax Office.

31. Participating Employers: consequences of stopping participation

31.1 A Participating Employer stops participating in the Scheme if any of the following events take place

- (a) a Participating Employer gives notice in writing to the Committee under Rule 30.13 terminating its liability to pay Ordinary Employer Contributions (but that notice can only be accepted on the basis that it cannot terminate its liability to pay Special Employer Contributions) to the Scheme (and such notice expires without being withdrawn or cancelled);
- (b) the Committee or Principal Employer gives notice in writing to a Participating Employer that it has terminated the Participating Employer's participation in the Scheme under Rule 28.5 (and such notice expires without being withdrawn or cancelled);
- (c) the period of participation of a Temporary Participating Employer expires;
- (d) the Participating Employer shall in the opinion of the Committee have become subject to an Insolvency Event, or shall cease to carry on its activities or indicates that it proposes to do so, or the Committee otherwise considers that it is expedient to terminate the Participating Employers participation in the Scheme; or
- (e) the Committee considers that the continued participation of a Participating Employer would prejudice the Scheme's status as a Registered Pension Scheme or a Qualifying Recognised Overseas Pension Scheme.
- 31.2 In cases of doubt, the Committee may decide the date on which a Participating Employer stopped participating in the Scheme following any of the events set out in Rule 31.1. Unless his Service transfers to another Employer, an Active Member must be treated as leaving Pensionable Service on the date of the cessation.
- 31.3 If a Participating Employer stops participating in the Scheme for any of the reasons set out in Rule 31.1, the Committee must calculate on the advice of the Actuary the proportion of the Scheme Assets attributable to the Members employed or formerly employed by that Employer (Bulk Transfer Amount). The Bulk Transfer Amount must reflect such proportion of the costs and expenses relating to that Employer's cessation of participation as the Committee considers reasonable on the advice of the Actuary.
- 31.4 After ascertaining the Bulk Transfer Amount under Rule 31.3, the Committee may:
 - (a) pay the Bulk Transfer Amount to another Registered Pension Scheme provided that on and after the Approbation Date such proportion of the

- Bulk Transfer Amount that represents Approbated Benefits shall only be transferred to a Receiving Scheme, subject to the requirements of these Rules;
- (b) keep the Bulk Transfer Amount within the Scheme and transfer the Pensionable Service of any or all Members concerned to another Employer.
- (c) keep the Bulk Transfer Amount within the Scheme and the Participating Employer remains liable for Special Employer Contributions under Rule 30.10
- 31.5 Any Member whose benefits are not transferred under this Rule is entitled to preserved benefits in the Scheme under Rule 46 and Rule 71 or Rule 81.

32. Expenses

- 32.1 The Committee is entitled to an indemnity from the Scheme Assets for all costs, charges and expenses incurred by it in connection with the administration of the Scheme.
- 32.2 The Employers must reimburse the Scheme for all amounts for which the Committee is indemnified from Scheme Assets, the apportionment between the Employers to be made as the Committee considers appropriate.

33. Transfers out of the Scheme

- 33.1 A Deferred Member may request the Committee to transfer the Cash Equivalent of his accrued benefits to a Receiving Scheme provided that (except in relation to a Deferred Member who is a Non Resident Member) where a part or all of that Member's Cash Equivalent is comprised of Approbated Benefits those Approbated Benefits may only be transferred to a Receiving Scheme that is also an Approbated Pension Scheme notwithstanding that any part of the Member's Cash Equivalent that is not comprised of Approbated Benefits may be transferred to a scheme other than a Receiving Scheme.
- 33.2 If approved under Rule 33.1, the Committee must pay a Cash Equivalent for the Deferred Member to the trustee or managers of the Receiving Scheme. Except in the case of a transfer under the PSTC the Committee must decide the amount to be transferred after obtaining the advice of the Actuary, provided that this amount is at least equal to the value of the benefits that would otherwise have been provided under the Scheme for the Deferred Member (**Transfer Amount**).

- 33.3 Subject to Rule 33.4, with the Principal Employer's agreement and after obtaining the advice of the Actuary, the Committee may arrange:
 - (a) to transfer to a Receiving Scheme full or partial liability to provide benefits for a group or category of Members or Beneficiaries (**Transferring Members**) on payment by the Committee of a Transfer Amount for the Transferring Members; or
 - (b) for a Receiving Scheme to provide alternative benefits instead of the benefits the Transferring Members are entitled to receive under the Scheme on payment by the Committee of a Transfer Amount for the Transferring Members.
- 33.4 A Transfer Amount payable under Rule 33.3:
 - (a) may be paid without obtaining the consent of each Transferring Member; and
 - (b) must not exceed the share of the Scheme Assets attributable to the Transferring Members.
- 33.5 After the Committee has paid a Transfer Amount in relation to a Member under Rule 33.2 or Rule 33.3, the Member is no longer entitled to receive any benefits under the Scheme and a receipt from the trustees or managers of the Receiving Scheme is a complete discharge for the Committee in connection with the Member.

34. Transfers into the Scheme

- 34.1 The Committee may accept a transfer of assets or investments for any person (**Transfer-in Member**) from another pension scheme which the Scheme is permitted to receive under the IT(G)L 1975 in each case approved by the Committee (**Transferring Scheme**), provided that:
 - (a) the transfer is consistent with the Scheme's status as a Registered Pension Scheme and as a Qualifying Recognised Overseas Pension Scheme; and
 - (b) the administrator of the Transferring Scheme has certified the element of the transfer payment comprising contributions made by the Transfer-in Member and the period of pensionable service in the Transferring Scheme; and

- (c) where the Transfer Amount is received by the Committee on or after the Approbation Date, it shall be administered for the purposes of the Scheme as comprising solely Approbated Benefits.
- 34.2 Unless the transfer is under the PSTC the Committee must provide benefits in the Defined Contribution Scheme for a Transfer-in Member as it considers appropriate. The benefits provided must not prejudice the Scheme's status as a Registered Pension Scheme or as a Qualifying Recognised Overseas Pension Scheme. If the transfer is under the PSTC the Committee shall (unless otherwise agreed with the Transfer-In Member) provide benefits under the CARE Scheme or the Final Salary Scheme whichever is required by the PSTC.
- 34.3 As soon as practicable after a transfer has taken place, the Committee must inform the Transfer-in Member of the benefits to be provided to him in the Scheme.

35. Members absent on leave for family reasons

- 35.1 The Committee must treat an Active Member who is on Paid Family Leave as remaining in Pensionable Service, subject to the following provisions of this Rule:
 - (a) an Active Member's Salary and Pensionable Salary must be calculated as if he had continued in Service during the period of Paid Family Leave;
 - (b) an Active Member on Paid Family Leave may elect continue to pay Member Contributions to the Scheme in accordance with Rules 42 and 69, except that the Member Contributions must be calculated by reference to the Salary received by the Active Member during the period of Paid Family Leave, including any statutory maternity or paternity pay received by the Active Member;
 - (c) if an Active Member shall elect to continue to pay Member Contributions under Rule 35.1(b) he shall also pay Member Contributions during any period of Unpaid Family Leave taken with the Paid Family Leave.
- 35.2 The Committee must treat an Active Member on Unpaid Family Leave as remaining in Pensionable Service only if the Active Member elects to continue to pay Member Contributions to the Scheme in accordance with Rule 42 or Rule 69. The Member Contributions due must be calculated by reference to the Salary received by the Active Member immediately before the period of Maternity Leave or Paternity Leave began.
- 35.3 If an Active Member returns to Service after a period of Maternity Leave or Paternity Leave, the Committee must treat the two periods of Pensionable

- Service as continuous. If the Active Member does not return to Service, the Committee must treat him as a Deferred Member and Rule 46 or Rule 81 applies.
- 35.4 The Committee may deduct from the Salary payable by an Employer to an Active Member the Member Contributions, and, if and so far as deductions are not made from the Salary of an Active Member, the Committee may recover any Member Contributions as a civil debt due to the Scheme, or may deduct any remaining sum from any payment by way of Pension or other benefit under these Rules.

36. Members with more than one period of Pensionable Service

- 36.1 An Active Member's Pensionable Service may comprise one or more periods of Service.
- 36.2 If an Active Member has a period of unpaid leave or special absence from Service, this period does not count as Pensionable Service and a Member is not liable to pay Member Contributions during any such period unless the Committee otherwise agrees.
- 36.3 In calculating the benefits due to an Active Member who has accrued more than one period of Pensionable Service, the Committee must treat each period of Pensionable Service as separate except that if an Active Member is absent from work under a temporary secondment to another Employer, the Committee and the Principal Employer may agree to allow the Active Member to remain in Pensionable Service. The Active Member must pay Member Contributions for the duration of his secondment.

37. Citation

These Rules may be cited as The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (New Pensions and other Benefits) Rules, 2016.

38. Coming into effect

The Rules came into force on the Transition Date and the amendments to these Rules come into effect from the date that the States by Resolution may appoint.

Part 2 – The CARE Rules

Note: these do not apply to the Final Salary Scheme unless expressly stated to do so.

39. Principles underpinning the Scheme and worked example.

39.1 Without prejudice to the discretion and powers vested in the Committee, this Rule 39 states the principles upon which the CARE Rules will operate.

- 39.2 The CARE Rules operate on a calendar year basis. A Member's Pensionable Salary will be determined for each calendar year. If the pay award is late, the basic pay will be assumed to be effective from the backdated date of the award. Pensionable pay supplements will be counted in the year they are received.
- 39.3 For example, a pay award due on 1 October 2016 is settled in February 2017. Back payments of basic pay and pensionable supplements are made in March 2017. For the purposes of calculating Pensionable Salary for 2016, the basic pay award will be counted from October 2016. The increased pensionable supplements will be counted in the 2017 calculation of Pensionable Salary.
- 39.4 Pensionable Salary will be determined for each calendar year and the accrued CARE pension calculated for that year. The first increase will apply immediately after the 31 December of the year following the year of accrual based on the RPIX for the previous June. For example, considering pension accrual for a CARE New Member:

Year : 2016 Pensionable pay : £30,000

CARE accrual : $1/80 \times £30,000 = £375$

First increase : applies from the 1 January 2018, based on June 2017

RPIX (capped at 6%)

40. Joining the Scheme and Accruing Benefits

- 40.1 Subject to Rule 40.2, the Committee will admit an Eligible Employee to the Scheme as a CARE Active Member with effect from the date that his employment begins under his contract of employment with an Employer. A CARE Transition Member will be admitted and start accruing benefits with effect from the Transition Date.
- 40.2 The Committee may admit an Eligible Employee as a CARE Active Member, who had eligibility prior to the 1st May 2015 to join the Scheme by reason of
 - (a) being a part time employee; or
 - (b) being a person who entered Pensionable Service and is under the age of 18; or
 - (c) a person who is on a fixed term contract or a contract to carry out specified work or on another temporary basis and is approved by the Committee to become a Member,

and who (in each case) has not previously opted to become a Member. In this case the Committee may require the Eligible Employee to:

- (i) provide such evidence of his age, marital status and state of health as the Committee may from time to time require; and
- (ii) undergo a medical examination if the Committee requires it (at the expense of the Committee).
- 40.3 If a person fails to provide any of the information required in Rule 40.2(i) or fails to undergo a medical examination if required under Rule 40.2(ii), the Committee may only allow him to join the Scheme as a CARE Active Member with the consent of the Principal Employer. If the Committee considers the outcome of the medical examination to be unsatisfactory, it may refuse to admit that person to the Scheme unless directed otherwise by the Principal Employer.

40A Special transition provisions for Care Transition Members

Part 7 of these Rules contain special transition provisions for a Care Transition Member admitted and accruing benefits from the Transition Date and who has elected (as described in Part 7) to be subject to those special transition provisions. Those special transition provisions do not apply to any Care Transition Member who has not elected in accordance with Part 7 to be subject to those special transition provisions.

41. No Power to Opt out of Pensionable Service while in Service

<u>Subject to Rule 46.2A</u> an Active Member has no power to opt out of Pensionable Service while he remains in Service.

42. Active Members' Contributions

- 42.1 Subject to Part 7 an Active Member must pay Member Contributions to the Committee as follows:
 - (a) for New CARE Members 7.5% of his Salary;
 - (b) for CARE Transition Members 7% of his Salary; and
- (c) additionally for CARE Active Members who are members of the Guernsey Police Force or the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service, the Police and Fire-fighters Additional Contributions.
- 42.2 The Committee may amend the rate of Member Contributions from time to time in accordance with Rule 16 and Rule 30 including, without limitation, in circumstances where an actuarial certificate cannot be provided for the purposes

- of paragraph 1(2)(c)(ii)(A) of the schedule to the Secondary Pensions Law. The Committee must in turn notify the Active Members in writing and which for this purpose includes notification by Electronic Communication.
- 42.3 Contributions are subject to the provisions of Rule 30 including those relating to the Cost Cap and Cost Floor.
- 42.4 Contributions paid on Salary in excess of the Earnings Cap are payable into the Defined Contribution Scheme and are notionally credited to the Member's DC Account.
- 42.5 If, in consequence of ill health or injury, an Active Member suffers a reduction of Salary he shall contribute to the Scheme in accordance with Rule 42.1 on his reduced Salary.
- 42.6 If, in consequence of ill health or injury, the Salary of an Active Member is discontinued for any period then during that period he shall not be required to contribute to the Scheme.
- 42.7 If, in consequence of his incapacity to continue to discharge efficiently the duties of his office, an Active Member is transferred to another position at a reduced Salary, or otherwise suffers a reduction in Salary, or if an Active Member is, otherwise than owing to ill health or injury, on leave of absence at a reduced Salary or is for any reason on leave of absence without Salary he may, with the consent of the Committee, continue to contribute to the Scheme in the same amount as if his Salary had not been reduced or discontinued.
- 42.8 The Committee may return any Member Contributions that have been paid to the Scheme in error.

43 Payment of Reduced Contributions for Pensionable Service

- 43.1 At any time after he has completed 35 years' Pensionable Service an Active Member may (but is not obliged to) elect to pay one half Member Contributions or no Member Contributions by giving at least one month's notice in writing to the Committee and his Employer (in such form and manner as his Employer may require).
- 43.2 An Active Member who elects under Clause 43.1:
 - (a) to pay one half Member Contributions, is credited with one half Pensionable Service whilst making those reduced Member Contributions;

(b) to not pay Member Contributions, does not accrue further Pensionable Service for as long as he makes no Member Contributions,

but in both cases is treated as a CARE Active Member for revaluation and other purposes unless otherwise expressly stated in these Rules.

44. Defined Contribution Scheme

- 44.1 Subject to any terms and conditions imposed by the Committee on the operation of the Defined Contribution Scheme, an Active Member may pay AVCs to the Scheme in such amount as he wishes with a view to securing additional benefits under the Defined Contribution Scheme. AVCs payable by an Active Member in relation to the Defined Contribution Scheme must be notionally credited to that Active Member's DC Account.
- 44.2 An Active Member paying AVCs to the Defined Contribution Scheme may alter the rate at which AVCs are paid or stop or re-start payment by giving such notice in writing to the Committee as the Committee may from time to time require and subject to any terms and conditions imposed by the Committee.
- 44.3 The Committee must from time to time supply an Active Member who is paying AVCs into the Defined Contribution Scheme or contributions on Salary in excess of the Earnings Cap with written details of the investment vehicles offered by any investment manager appointed under Rule 17.4 to receive AVCs to the Defined Contribution Scheme, including any material changes to those details.
- When an Active Member leaves Pensionable Service he must, before he reaches his seventy fifth birthday exercise one of the following options in relation to his DC Account by giving notice in writing to the Committee in the form prescribed by the Committee from time to time:
 - (a) to receive a refund that is, in the opinion of the Committee, equivalent to the balance in the Member's DC Account relating to his Member Contributions made prior to the Approbation Date, *subject always to Rule* 46.8A;
 - (b) to transfer the value of his DC Account to a Receiving Scheme;
 - (c) to take the value of his DC Account as a lump sum (less any income tax that is payable) provided that the value of the DC Account does not exceed the sum of £15,000 (or such other amount as the Committee may from time to time designate), *subject always to Rule 57A*;
 - (d) subject to the approval of the Committee and to Income Tax regulations:

- (i) to take up to a maximum of 30% of the DC Account (or such other amount as the Committee may from time to time designate) as a lump sum; and
- (ii) purchase an annuity with the remaining DC Account; or
- (e) if the Member does not opt to receive the value of his DC Account under Rule 44.4 (a), (b), (c) or (d) or otherwise fails to exercise an option under this Rule 44.4, the investment of the Member's DC Account within the Defined Contribution Scheme shall continue until:
 - (i) he exercises an option under Rule 44.4 (a)-(d) (provided he does so before he reaches his seventy fifth birthday); or
 - (ii) the death of the Member and in which case the value of his DC Account will be paid under Rule 56 or Rule 87 (as appropriate).

but the Member may not make additional AVCs into his DC Account.

- In the event that an Active Member leaves Pensionable Service but opts to remain in the Defined Contribution Scheme in accordance with Rule 44.4(e), he shall retain the choice to switch investment options at any time by completing the prescribed form of notification.
- 44.6 If an Active Member dies in Service, the value of his DC Account must be paid in lump-sum form and the provisions of Rule 54 and Rule 86 shall apply.
- 44.7 If a Deferred Member dies before benefits have come into payment Rule 56 and or Rule 87.1(d) shall apply.

45. AVCs – Additional Benefits

- 45.1 A CARE Transition Member may, with the consent of the Committee, and upon such terms as the Committee may approve, and subject to the receipt of a medical report satisfactory to the Committee, purchase additional benefits as the Committee may approve, in accordance with the provisions of Rule 45.2.
- 45.2 Additional annual pension in multiples of £300 may be purchased by the CARE Transition Member by way of lump sum or periodical contributions (ascertained and certified as payable by the Actuary), up to a maximum total additional pension of £6,000 per annum. Such additional pension payable shall be subject to increase from the date of purchase in accordance with the CARE Revaluation. The Committee shall be entitled to review and amend from time to time the £300

- purchase multiple and the £6000 maximum total additional pension able to be purchased by a Member.
- 45.3 CARE Transition Members can elect at any time to pay AVCs to remove some or all of the actuarial reduction from their accrued CARE Scheme benefit in the event that they retire before the Normal Pension Age and on or after the Final Salary Normal Pension Age.

46. Benefits for early leavers of the CARE Scheme

- 46.1 An Active Member who leaves Service may at any time elect to receive a Contribution Refund in respect of benefits accrued under the Scheme prior to the Approbation Date (but not in respect of any benefits accrued in respect of any period of Pensionable Service on and after the Approbation Date which exceeds three months) together with interest (less tax) at a rate determined by the Committee from time to time or request the Committee to make a transfer under Rule 33. The Committee must notify an Active Member of his right to make this election within a reasonable period after he leaves Service.
- 46.2 Upon leaving Service an Active Member automatically leaves Pensionable Service.
- 46.3 If the Pensionable Service of an Active Member who leaves Service exceeds three months, he becomes a Deferred Member from the day after the date on which his Pensionable Service is deemed to end and is entitled to preserved benefits which are calculated in accordance with the provisions of Rule 46.6 or he may request the Committee to make a transfer under Rule 33 except that if the Pensionable Service of such an Active Member includes a period of Pensionable Service of three months or fewer from and including the Approbation Date he may request a Contribution Refund together with interest (less tax) at a rate determined by the Committee from time to time in respect of his benefits accrued on and from the Approbation Date. If his Pensionable Service is less than three months, the Active Member is treated as having left the Scheme on the day after the date on which his Pensionable Service is deemed to end, but is entitled to receive a Contribution Refund together with interest (less tax) at a rate determined by the Committee from time to time or he may request the Committee to make a transfer under Rule 33.

46.3A An Opt Out Member who has exercised his entitlement to opt out of membership of the Scheme within three months of the date of his enrolment as a Member, shall receive a refund of his Member Contributions which shall extinguish any other entitlement of his to benefit under the Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt, the value of any Employer Contributions made to the Scheme in respect of such a member shall be retained wihin the Scheme.

46.3

- 46.4 A CARE Transition Member who takes a Contribution Refund or transfer under Rule 46.3 must also take a Contribution Refund or transfer under Rule 71 of the Final Salary Scheme at the same time.
- An Active Member who leaves Serviceshall not be entitled to a Contribution Refund of benefits accrued prior to the Approbation Date or of benefits accrued in respect of a period of Pensionable Service on and after the Approbation Date exceeding three months under Rule 46.3 if the Committee pays a transfer value in respect of that Member's benefits accrued prior to that date.
- 46.6 A Deferred Member must receive a Pension calculated as a CARE Active Member while in Pensionable Service calculated under Rule 50 up until the date that he leaves Pensionable Service and then re-valued during his period of deferment by the CARE Revaluation applicable to a CARE Deferred Member.
- 46.7 With the Committee's consent, a Deferred Member may draw a Pension before reaching Normal Pension Age:
 - (a) after attaining Normal Minimum Pension Age; or
 - (b) if he is suffering from Total Incapacity.
- 46.8 If a Deferred Member wishes to draw a Pension early under Rule 46.7, he must apply to the Committee not less than three months before the date on which he wishes to draw his Pension, (or such shorter period as the Committee may accept in his particular case) in writing, and in such form as the Committee may from time to time decide. The Committee must pay the Deferred Member a Pension on the terms calculated in accordance with Rule 46.6, but, subject to Rule 45.3 reduced by an appropriate factor reflecting its early payment before the Deferred Member's Normal Pension Age. The Committee must decide the reduction factor that is applied after obtaining the advice of the Actuary.
- 46.8A If a Non Resident Member wishes, in respect of his Approbated Benefits, to receive a Contribution Refund (together with interest (less tax) at a rate determined by the Committee from time to time), receive a commutation of his benefits in the circumstances set out in section 153A of the IT(G)L 1975 (as if that section applied to the Scheme) or for those benefits to be transferred to a pension scheme other than a Receiving Scheme he must apply to the Committee not less than three months before the date on which he wishes to receive the refund, commute the benefits or for those benefits to be transferred, as the case may be, (or such shorter period as the Committee may accept in his particular case) in writing, and in such form as the Committee

may from time to time decide. Where a Non Resident Member applies, in respect of his Approbated Benefits, for a Contribution Refund or <u>for those benefits to be transferred to a pension scheme other than a Receiving Scheme he must also take a Contribution Refund or transfer in relation to any other benefits (if any) accrued to him under the Scheme which are not Approbated Benefits.</u>

46.8B Where a Contribution Refund is received by the Member, the period of his Pensionable Service for calculating any other benefits payable to him under the Scheme shall be adjusted accordingly. Rule 46.8A shall apply in respect of benefits accrued under the Scheme by a Non Resident Member.

47. Pension in payment increases

- 47.1 The Committee must increase a pension in payment under the Scheme on 1st January in each year for Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) attributable to Pensionable Service completed on or after the Transition Date by the relevant CARE Revaluation applicable to that CARE Pensioner Member.
- 47.2 At the direction of the Principal Employer, the Committee may increase a pension in payment under the Scheme by a greater amount than is provided under Rule 47.1, provided the relevant Employer agrees to pay Special Employer Contributions sufficient to meet the cost of funding such additional increase as determined by the Actuary.

48. Commutation options – CARE Member

48.1 Before a CARE Member starts drawing a Pension, he may commute part of his Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) in any amount up to the maximum of 30% of the value of that part of his Pension then being taken and ascertained as at that date under the CARE Rules, by giving notice in writing to the Committee specifying the amount of the lump sum he wishes to draw. The Member may commute his Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) on a basis of surrendering £1 of Pension (other than Terminal Grant) for £12 lump sum, and calculated in accordance with the following formula:

$$A\% \times [(20 \times B) + C]$$
 where

- 'A' is the percentage opted for by the Member up to a maximum of 30%
- 'B' is the annual Pension entitlement (excluding Terminal Grant), and
- 'C' is (in the case of a CARE New Member only) the amount of Terminal Grant
- 48.2 In respect of a CARE New Member (and for the avoidance of doubt):

- (a) the lump sum calculated and payable in accordance with the formula in Rule 48.1 is inclusive of any Terminal Grant;
- (b) that having calculated the lump sum under the above formula the amount of the Terminal Grant shall be deducted and only the balance divided by 12 in order to ascertain the amount of the pension surrendered; and
- (c) that where the amount of the lump sum ascertained under the formula is less than the amount of the Terminal Grant payable, the option in Rule 48.1 cannot be exercised.
- 48.3 A CARE Transition Member wishing to commute part of his Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) under this Rule must at the same time and in the same percentage also exercise his right to commute any Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) payable under the Final Salary Scheme pursuant to Rule 74.
- 48.4 Rule 44 shall apply in respect of the DC Account.
- 48.5 The Committee may commute on grounds of Exceptional Serious Ill Health Circumstances the entirety of a Member's benefits before they come into payment on a basis determined by the Committee after obtaining the advice of the Actuary, provided that:
 - (a) the Committee has received evidence from a registered medical practitioner that the Member is expected to live for less than one year;
 - (b) the Member must have completed not less than *three months* of PensionableService;
 - (c) the Member is assumed to have retired on the grounds of Total Incapacity and the benefits are commuted to the maximum sum calculated under Rule 48.1 to which is added a sum equal to 5 times his residual Pension remaining (after commutation and excluding Terminal Grant);
 - (d) the Member has consented to the commutation unless he is unable to give his consent because of his ill-health; and
 - (e) any contingent benefits due to a Spouse, Qualifying Partner or Qualifying Child of the Member on his death must be separately secured by the Committee.
- 49. Members with Part-time Service Assumption in calculating benefit.

For the purposes of calculating benefits under Rule 52 of the CARE Rules for an Active Member in Part-time Service who retires early on account of Total Incapacity, or under Rule 54 of the CARE Rules for an Active Member in Part-time Service who dies in Service, the Committee must assume the Active Member's Part-time Hours on the date he leaves Pensionable Service or dies would have remained the same until he reached Normal Pension Age.

50. Normal retirement for CARE Active Members

- 50.1 The Committee must pay a CARE Active Member who leaves Pensionable Service on reaching Normal Pension Age, having completed not less than *three* months' of Pensionable Service, a Pension calculated in accordance with Rule 50.2.
- 50.2 Subject to Rule 50.1, a Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) payable to a CARE Active Member must comprise:
 - (a) a pension calculated for each Scheme Year while the Active Member is in Pensionable Service in accordance with the formula:

 $AR \times PS$

In which AR is the relevant accrual rate set out in (b) below, PS is the Pensionable Salary earned during that year of calculation and then revalued in accordance with the CARE Revaluation appropriate for that Member.

- (b) the accrual rates are:
 - (i) for a CARE New Member, one-eightieth,
 - (ii) and for a CARE Transition Member, one fifty sixth.
- (c) Revaluation is in accordance with the CARE Revaluation applicable to a CARE Active Member whilst the CARE Active Member is in Pensionable Service.
- 50.3 The Pension shall also include any benefit deriving from a transfer into the Scheme in accordance with Rule 34. The Committee may decide the amount of that benefit after obtaining the advice of the Actuary.

- 50.4 The Committee shall also pay any Pension the CARE Active Member accrued while in Pensionable Service under the Final Salary Scheme and calculated in accordance with the Final Salary Rules.
- 50.5 A Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) payable under this Rule:
 - (a) is payable from the CARE Active Member's Normal Pension Age; and
 - (b) is payable for the rest of the CARE Active Member's life.
- 50.6 In addition there is payable to a CARE New Member a Terminal Grant calculated at three times the CARE New Member's Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) payable at the CARE New Member's Normal Pension Age.

51. Partial retirement for CARE Active Members

- 51.1 A Partial Retirement Member, having completed not less than *two* years of Pensionable Service, may draw a Pension in part before leaving Pensionable Service provided:
 - (a) he has reached Normal Minimum Pension Age but has not attained age 75; and
 - (b) the terms on which he is in Service have changed such that his Salary is reduced by at least 20%.

A Partial Retirement Member may not exercise this option on more than two occasions.

- 51.2 A Partial Retirement Member may exercise the option in Rule 51.1 by giving the Committee 3 months' notice (or such shorter period of written notice as the Committee may accept in his particular case). The notice must inform the Committee:
 - (a) the proportion of his Pension, up to a maximum of 75%, that he wishes to draw; and
 - (b) the date from which he wishes his Pension to be paid (**Payment Date**) and which must be the date on which his Salary is to be reduced.
- 51.3 A Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) payable under this Rule must be payable for the rest of a Partial Retirement Member's life with effect from the Payment Date. The Committee must calculate the Pension on the basis applying under

Rule 50.2 but adjusted according to the proportion that the Partial Retirement Member receives his Pension and Rule 48 applies.

- 51.4 If a Partial Retirement Member has elected to be paid part of his Pension:
 - (a) the Committee must calculate his Pension as though:
 - (i) he were leaving Pensionable Service on the day before the Payment Date; and
 - (ii) he had accrued only a proportion of the Pensionable Service he has in fact accrued. The proportion used (Partial Pensionable Service) must reflect the proportion of his Pension that he wishes to draw;
 - (b) if he has not reached Normal Pension Age, the Committee must reduce the part of his Pension coming into payment to reflect its early payment in accordance with Rule 52.3;
 - (c) the Partial Retirement Member continues in Pensionable Service until the date he leaves Service. If he has not reached Normal Pension Age when he draws his residual Pension (excluding Terminal Grant), the Committee must reduce his residual Pension for early payment in accordance with Rule 52.3.
- A Partial Retirement Member who decides to draw part of his Pension in accordance with Rule 51.1 may also exercise a commutation option under Rule 48 subject to compliance with the Rules. On subsequently drawing any residual Pension (whether relating to the excess over the Partial Retirement Member's Partial Pensionable Service or any Pensionable Service completed after the Payment Date), the Partial Retirement Member may exercise a further commutation option under Rule 48, to the extent that it does not result in a breach of the Rules.
- 51.6 A Partial Retirement Member who has exercised an option under Rule 51.1 counts as both an Active Member and a Pensioner Member under these Rules. But if a Partial Retirement Member dies before starting to draw his residual Pension (excluding Terminal Grant), the death benefits payable for a Partial Retirement Member must be calculated in accordance with Rule 54, (death in Service, applied to the residual Salary) and Rule 57 (death in retirement), and the lump sum payable is the lesser of the aggregate of both those sums or 3 times the amount of the Member's Salary prior to exercising the option under Rule 51.

52. Early retirement for CARE Active Members

- 52.1 A CARE Active Member, having completed not less than *three months* of Pensionable Service, is entitled to draw a Pension on leaving Pensionable Service before reaching Normal Pension Age, upon giving the Committee not less than three months' notice (or such shorter period as the Committee may accept in his particular case), in the following situations:
 - (a) if he has attained Normal Minimum Pension Age;
 - (b) if he suffers from Partial Incapacity, provided the Ill-health Condition is met; or
 - (c) if he suffers from Total Incapacity, provided the Ill-health Condition is met.
- 52.2 If a CARE Active Member wishes to draw a Pension early in any of the situations referred to in Rule 52.1, he must apply to the Committee in writing in such form as the Committee may decide from time to time.
- 52.3 The Committee must pay a CARE Active Member who retires early under Rule 52.1(a) a Pension, calculated in accordance with Rule 50, which, subject to Rule 45.3, will be reduced by an appropriate factor reflecting its early payment before the CARE Active Member's Normal Pension Age. The Committee shall decide the reduction factor that is applied after obtaining the advice of the Actuary.
- 52.4 The Committee must pay a CARE Active Member who retires early under Rule 52.1(b) a Pension, calculated in accordance with Rule 50 which is not reduced for early payment.
- 52.5 The Committee must pay a CARE Active Member who retires early under Rule 52.1(c) a Pension, calculated in accordance with Rule 50, which is not reduced for early payment, and his Pensionable Service is to be augmented by the Additional Pensionable Service. The Pension for the period of Additional Pensionable Service is calculated under Rule 50 but based on Pensionable Salary over the 12 month period ending on the date of his retirement provided further that if Rule 43 applies the Additional Pensionable Service shall be half rate or nil as the case may be.
- 52.6 If the CARE Active Member's years of Pensionable Service is less than *three months*, that Member shall be entitled, if he is retired under Rule 52.1(b) or Rule 52.1(c), to a payment:

(a) equal to 1/12 of Pensionable Salary over a 12 month period ending on the date of the Member's retirement, and if a CARE New Member a Terminal Grant;

or

(b) a Contribution Refundtogether with interest at a rate determined by the Committee from time to time,

whichever is the greater.

- 52.7 The Committee may from time to time review whether a Member remains entitled to a Pension on grounds of Partial Incapacity or Total Incapacity. In conducting a review, the Committee may ask the Member to undergo medical examinations and provide such information as it may require. If the Committee decides after a review that a Member no longer suffers from Partial Incapacity or Total Incapacity as the case may be, it may reduce, suspend or terminate the Pension on giving the Member one month's notice in writing.
- 52.8 A CARE Active Member (other than those referred to in Rule 52.9) who is within 5 years of his Normal Pension Age who, for reasons other than Partial Incapacity or Total Incapacity, is unable to carry out his existing duties may apply to his Employer for assessment under EIERP. If the Employer is unable to provide the Member with suitable alternative employment following completion of the EIERP the Employer may (with the prior consent of the Committee) retire the Member and Rule 52.4 shall apply.
- 52.9 A CARE Active Member who is a member of the Guernsey Police Force or the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service and who is at least 50 years of age but has not reached Normal Pension Age for a Member who remains in Pensionable Service to age 55, may apply for assessment under EIERP. The relevant Chief Officer of the service may (having obtained the prior consent of the Committee) determine that for reasons other than Partial Incapacity or Total Incapacity, and despite all reasonable support that has or could be made available to that Member, the Member is unable to regain the necessary levels of fitness to be deployed on operational duties and cannot be assigned to an alternative police officer or fire fighter role (as the case may be). In such circumstances if the Member is employed in Pensionable Service in a new non police officer or fire fighter role the following provisions and options apply:
 - (a) The Member will receive pay, benefits and the pension arrangements that relate to the new appointment;
 - (b) in respect of benefits accrued to the date of the new appointment a Member remaining in Pensionable Service may:

- (i) receive his Pension from his Normal Pension Age determined as if he had remained in Pensionable Service until age 55;
- (ii) or receive a Pension from an earlier date actuarially reduced in accordance with Rule 52.3.

For the avoidance of doubt any benefits in the Final Salary Scheme will be calculated in accordance with the Final Salary Rules.

- (c) In the event that the Employer is unable to provide the Member with suitable alternative employment following completion of the EIERP the Member will be retired and Rule 52.4 shall apply.
- 52.10 For a CARE Active Member who is a member of the Guernsey Police Force or the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service and who is at least 55 years of age, the Employer (with the prior consent of the Committee) shall be entitled to determine that having regard to the interests of the economical, effective and efficient management of that service and the costs likely to be incurred that Active Member should be retired and in which event that Active Member shall be awarded a Pension as at the retirement date in accordance with Rule 52.4.

53. Late retirement for CARE Active Members

- 53.1 With the consent of his Employer, a CARE Active Member may remain in Service after reaching Normal Pension Age.
- 53.2 A CARE Active Member who remains in Service under Rule 53.1 continues in Pensionable Service until the earlier of:
 - (a) the date on which he leaves Service; or
 - (b) the date on which he attains the age of 75.
- 53.3 A Member who has extended his Service under Rule 53.1 shall be paid a Pension calculated under Rule 50.2 and is payable from the date on which a CARE Active Member leaves Service, or the date on which he attains age 75 whichever is earlier.
- 54. Death benefits: CARE Active Members who die in Pensionable Service before reaching Normal Pension Age

- 54.1 If a CARE Active Member dies in Pensionable Service before reaching Normal Pension Age, the following benefits set out in this Rule 54 are payable.
- 54.2 In this Rule 54 (including the Tables):
 - (a) 'Death in Service Lump Sum' means a sum equal to three times the CARE Active Member's Salary over the 12 month period ending on the date of his death;
 - (b) 'Pensionable Salary Entitlement' means one quarter of the CARE Active Member's Salary over the 12 month period ending on the date of the death of the Member and is payable in three equal monthly instalments in arrears during the three months following the date of his death;
 - (c) **'Pension'** for the purpose of this Rule excludes Terminal Grant;
 - (d) **'AVC Member Benefit'** means benefits payable as a result of the payment of AVC Member Contribution;
 - (e) 'AVC Member Spouse Benefit' means benefits payable as a result of the payment of AVC Member Spouse Contribution.
 - (f) 'AVC Member Contribution' means AVCs paid by the Member under Rule 45.2 for Member added pension only and not for Spouse or Qualifying Partner added pension.
 - (g) **'AVC Member Spouse Contribution'** means AVCs paid by the Member under Rule 45.2 for Member and Spouse or Qualifying Partner added pension
 - (h) 'AVC/ERR' means AVCs paid by the Member to remove part or all of the early retirement reduction referred to in Rule 45.3.
 - (i) **'Spouse Pension'** means a pension calculated for each Scheme Year while the Member is in Pensionable Service in accordance with the formula:

AR x PS in which:

- (i) AR is the accrual rate of one one hundred and sixtieth (1/160);
- (ii) PS is the Pensionable Salary earned during that year of calculation; and

- (iii) revalued in accordance with the CARE Revaluation appropriate for that Member;
- (iv) augmented by Additional Pensionable Service, and the calculation of the Pension for the period of Additional Pensionable Service is calculated in accordance with the formula in this paragraph (i) but based on Pensionable Salary over the 12 month period ending on the date of the Member's death provided that if Rule 43 applies the Additional Pensionable Service shall be half rate or nil as the case may be; and
- (v) revaluation is in accordance with the CARE Revaluation applicable to the CARE Active Member whilst that CARE Active Member was in Pensionable Service.
- (j) Where there is an additional Pension payable for a second or more Qualifying Child, this Pension is the total amount and is not payable for any further Qualifying Child.
- (k) Payments for a Qualifying Child are payable only for as long as they remain a Qualifying Child.
- 54.3 The Committee shall pay the benefits as determined by this Rule 54 (subject to Rule 22):
 - (a) to his Spouse or (subject to the provision of Evidence of Financial Dependence) a Qualifying Partner; or
 - (b) if the Member is not survived by a Spouse or Qualifying Partner but is survived by a Qualifying Child, to such person as the Committee may in its discretion determine for the benefit of that Qualifying Child (or children) (if more than one in equal shares); or
 - (c) if the Member is survived neither by a Spouse, Qualifying Partner nor by a Qualifying Child, to his legal personal representative; and
 - (d) provided that if and for so long as the Member is survived by a Qualifying Child who is not in the custody of the Member's Spouse or Qualifying Partner, any pension payable in respect of that Qualifying Child shall be paid to such person as the Committee may in its discretion determine for the Qualifying Child's benefit.
- 54.4 Pension on the death of a CARE Active Member in Pensionable Service but with less than *three months* Pensionable Service:

Member survived by	Member not survived by	Member not survived by
Spouse or Qualifying	Spouse or Qualifying	Spouse or Qualifying
Partner (with or without	Partner but survived by	Partner or Qualifying
Qualifying Child)	Qualifying Child	child
• Death in Service	• Death in Service	• Death in Service
Lump Sum;	Lump Sum;	Lump Sum;
• Pensionable Salary	• Pensionable Salary	• AVC Member
Entitlement;	Entitlement;	Contribution;
• AVC Member	• AVC Member	AVC Member Spouse
Contribution;	Contribution;	Contribution;
AVC Member Spouse	AVC Member Spouse	AVC/ERR; and
Contribution;	Contribution;	the DC Account
AVC/ERR; and	AVC/ERR; and	
the DC Account	• the DC Account	

54.5 Pension on the death of a CARE Active Member in Pensionable Service with two or more years' Pensionable Service:

- 1. Member survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner, with no Qualifying Child.
- Death in Service Lump Sum;
- Pensionable Salary Entitlement;
- AVC Member Contribution;
- AVC Member Spouse Benefit;
- AVC/ERR;
- the DC Account; and
- Spouse Pension
- 2. Member survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner, with Qualifying Child.
- Death in Service Lump Sum;
- Pensionable Salary Entitlement;
- AVC Member Contribution;
- AVC Member Spouse Benefit;
- AVC/ERR;
- the DC Account;
- Spouse Pension; and
- an additional pension for first Qualifying Child, equal to one half of the Spouse Pension;
- an additional pension for second Qualifying Child (or children), equal to one half of the Spouse Pension

3. Member survived by Qualifying Child but not a Spouse or Qualifying Partner

- Death in Service Lump Sum;
- Pensionable Salary Entitlement;
- AVC Member Contribution and AVC Member Spouse Contribution;
- AVC/ERR;
- the DC Account;
- a pension for first Qualifying Child, equal to two thirds of the Spouse Pension;
- a pension for second Qualifying Child (or children) equal to two thirds of the Spouse Pension

4. Member not survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner or Qualifying Child.

- Death in Service Lump Sum;
- AVC Member Contribution and AVC Member Spouse Contribution;
- AVC/ERR;
- the DC Account

Death benefits: CARE Active Members who die in Pensionable Service on or after reaching Normal Pension Age

If a CARE Active Member dies in Pensionable Service on or after reaching Normal Pension Age and before starting to receive a pension, the relevant benefits set out in Rule 54 are payable except that in the calculation of the Pension any Additional Pensionable Service is excluded and AVC/ERR is not refundable.

56. Death benefits: CARE Deferred Members

- 56.1 If a CARE Deferred Member dies, the benefits set out in this Rule are payable. In this Rule 'Pension' excludes Terminal Grant.
- 56.2 The Spouse Pension is calculated as set out in Rule 54 but amended as follows:
 - (a) in the calculation of the Pension any Additional Pensionable Service is excluded; and
 - (b) the CARE Revaluation applying from the date that the CARE Deferred Member left Pensionable Service until the date of his death is the revaluation appropriate for a CARE Deferred Member.
- 56.3 The Committee must pay the following amounts:

- 1. Member survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner, with no Qualifying Child.
- AVC Member Contribution;
- AVC Member Spouse Benefit;
- AVC/ERR;
- the DC Account;
- Spouse Pension
- 2. Member survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner, with Qualifying Child.
- AVC Member Contribution;
- AVC Member Spouse Benefit;
- AVC/ERR;
- the DC Account;
- Spouse Pension;
- an additional pension for first Qualifying Child, equal to one half of the Spouse Pension;
- an additional pension for second Qualifying Child (or children), equal to one half of the Spouse Pension
- 3. Member survived by Qualifying Child but not a Spouse or Qualifying Partner
- AVC Member Contribution and AVC Member Spouse Contribution;
- AVC/ERR;
- the DC Account;
- a pension for first Qualifying Child, equal to two thirds of the Spouse Pension;
- a pension for second Qualifying Child (or children), equal to two thirds of the Spouse Pension
- 4. Member not survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner or Qualifying Child.
- Member Contributions made by the Member during Pensionable Service and (which for the avoidance of doubt) includes:

AVC Member Contribution;

AVC Member Spouse Contribution;

AVC/ERR;

the DC Account relating to the Member's Contributions (including any AVCs)

57. Death benefits: CARE Pensioner Members

57.1 If a CARE Pensioner Member dies after starting to receive a pension under the Scheme, the benefits set out in this Rule are payable. In this Rule 'Pension' excludes Terminal Grant.

- 57.2 The Spouse Pension is calculated as set out in Rule 54 but amended as follows:
 - (a) in the calculation of the Pension any Additional Pensionable Service is excluded; and
 - (b) the CARE Revaluation for a CARE Pensioner Member applying from the date that the CARE Pensioner Member started to receive his Pension until the date of his death is the revaluation appropriate for a CARE Pensioner Member.
- 57.3 If a CARE Deferred Member retires and then dies, the benefits are increased in accordance with the CARE Revaluation for a Deferred Member up to the date of retirement and then the CARE Revaluation for a CARE Pensioner Member from the date of retirement until the date of his death.
- 57.4 The Committee must pay the following amounts:
 - 1. Member dies within five years after starting to receive a pension under the Scheme
 - A lump sum equal to the further instalments of pension (excluding annual increases) that would have been paid to the CARE Pensioner Member if he had not died, in the balance of the five years commencing on his first payment date of his pension, subject to a minimum payment of three months
 - 2. Member dies five years or more after starting to receive a Pension under the Scheme and is survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner or Qualifying Child
 - Payment of three further monthly instalments of pension (excluding annual increases) that would have been paid to the CARE Pensioner Member if he had not died
 - 3. Member survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner with no Qualifying Child.
 - Spouse Pension
 - AVC Member Spouse Benefit;
 - 4. Member survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner with a Qualifying Child.
 - Spouse Pension;

- AVC Member Spouse Benefit;
- an additional pension for first Qualifying Child, equal to one half of the Spouse Pension;
- an additional pension for second Qualifying Child (or children), equal to one half of the Spouse Pension
- 5. Member survived by Qualifying Child but not a Spouse or Qualifying Partner
- a pension for first Qualifying Child, equal to two thirds of the Spouse Pension;
- a pension for second Qualifying Child (or children), equal to two thirds of the Spouse Pension

57A Trivial Commutation

57A1 A Member who has accrued Pensionable Service on and from the Approbation Date of more than three months and who has not attained age 50 may not commute any Approbated Benefits referable to such Pensionable Service for triviality under section 153A of the IT(G)L 1975 unless that Member is a Non Resident Member.

57A2 A Member who has accrued Pensionable Service prior to the Approbation Date and who has not attained age 50 or a Member who has accrued Pensionable Service on and from the Approbation Date who has attained age 50 may commute benefits **held in their DC Account** referable to such Pensionable Service for triviality under and for the purposes of section 153A of the IT(G)L 1975 (provided that section applies to permit such commutation) provided that in calculating the aggregate value of the fund attributable to the Member for the purposes of that section, account is taken of the total value of the Member's benefits irrespective of whether they were accrued prior to or on and after the Approbation Date.

Part 3 Final Salary Rules

Note: These Rules are to be read in accordance with and consistently with the Original Documents except as expressly provided in this Part. In the event of a conflict between the Original Documents and the provisions contained in this Part 3, this Part 3 shall prevail. Except to the extent that they are amended by this Part 3, these Rules incorporate

the provisions of the Original Documents in force as at 29th February 2016 in relation to the Final Salary Rules (only).

58. Application

These Rules apply to Final Salary Protected Members for all of their Pensionable Service. They apply to CARE Transition Members for their Pensionable Service up to (but not including) the Transition Date.

59. Interpretation

The definitions in the Original Documents shall apply to these Final Salary Rules (unless otherwise stated in this Part 3).

60 Active Members subject to Transitional Provisions

Final Salary Protected Members and CARE Transition Members on the Transition Date are subject to these transitional provisions.

61. Closure of the Final Salary Scheme

The Final Salary Scheme is closed with effect from 1st May 2015. Since that date, Eligible Employees are no longer entitled to be admitted to the Final Salary Scheme but may only join as CARE Active Members.

62. No further accrual to the Final Salary Scheme except for Final Salary Protected Members

- 62.1 Final Salary Protected Members automatically remain in the Final Salary Scheme for further accrual if they have not elected within one month after the Transition Date to join the CARE Scheme, and, if they do so elect to join the CARE Scheme, shall be CARE Transition Members.
- 62.2 With effect from the Transition Date, except for Final Salary Protected Members, the Final Salary Scheme is closed to further accrual by Active Members. CARE Transition Members benefits in respect of Pensionable Service up to (but not including) the Transition Date are calculated in accordance with the Final Salary Rules.
- 62.3 CARE Transition Members who remain in Pensionable Service accrue any further benefits as CARE Active Members from the Transition Date.

63. Members who left Pensionable Service or died before the Transition Date

The Committee must calculate benefits for a Member who stopped being a Member of the Final Salary Scheme or who died before the Transition Date in accordance with the Final Salary Rules in force on the date they left Pensionable Service, retired or die (whichever is the earlier) except as stated in this Part 3.

64. Changes in indexation, commutation options, HM Greffier

Notwithstanding Rule 63:

- 64.1 for a Final Salary Pensioner and Final Salary Deferred Member, future pension and deferred pension increases payable under the Final Salary Rules shall, with effect from the Transition Date, be assessed by reference to the Guernsey Index of Retail Prices excluding mortgage payments (RPIX) and not the Guernsey Index of Retail Prices All Items (RPI); and
- 64.2 for a Final Salary Deferred Member the commutation options shall be those set out in Rule 74; and
- 64.3 with effect from 1st August 2011, Rule 6 and Schedule 1 of the Original Documents shall not apply to Her Majesty's Greffier, and Rule 7 of the Original Documents shall be read so as to include a new subparagraph
 - (s) HM Greffier

in the list of persons eligible to be a Member of the Final Salary Scheme.

65. Final Salary Protected Members: Benefits under the Final Salary Scheme

- 65.1 Final Salary Protected Members shall continue to be governed by the Final Salary Rules as amended by Part 3 of these Rules.
- 65.2 A Final Salary Protected Member shall not be able to receive their Pension or other benefits under the Final Salary Rules whilst they remain an Active Member of the Scheme but this does not prevent the Rules of the Scheme for flexible retirement from applying to that Member.

66. CARE Transition Members: Benefits under the Final Salary Scheme

- 66.1 If a CARE Transition Member dies,
 - (a) in Service; or
 - (b) after they have deferred their pension or other benefits; or

(c) after retirement,

then, (in addition to any benefits payable under the CARE Scheme), a pension to a Spouse, or Qualifying Partner or Qualifying Children under the Final Salary Scheme shall be based on the accrued benefit under the Final Salary Rules only. This is without prejudice to any additional Pension or benefits payable from the CARE Scheme following the Transition Date.

By way of example if a CARE Transition Member has accrued ten years of Pensionable Service before the Transition Date under the Final Salary Rules and dies in Service 5 years later when their Final Pensionable Salary has increased to £30,000, there is payable to the Spouse from the Final Salary Scheme a pension of:

 $10/160 \times £30,000 = £1,875 \text{ pa.}$

66.2 For the avoidance of doubt:

- (a) A pension to a Spouse, Qualifying Partner or Qualifying Child from the Final Salary Scheme will be based on the Pensionable Service in the Final Salary Scheme qualifying for the benefit;
- (b) any additional death in Service benefits (including any benefit based on Pensionable Service after the Transition Date) and the Death in Service Lump Sum will be paid under the CARE Rules.
- A Pension or other benefit payable to a CARE Transition Member by reason of ill health will follow the same principles set out in Rule 52, and:
 - (a) the benefit shall be based on accrued Pensionable Service under the Final Salary Scheme, whatever the level of incapacity;
 - (b) any additional ill health benefits (including any benefit based on Pensionable Service after the Transition Date) will be paid under the CARE Rules.
- 66.4 CARE Transition Members' accrued benefits up to the date immediately prior to Transition Date and payable under the Final Salary Rules will be linked to Final Pensionable Salary at the date they leave Service, leave Pensionable Service, retire or die (whichever is the earlier).
- 66.5 A CARE Transition Member shall not be able to receive their Pension or other benefits under the Final Salary Rules whilst they remain an Active Member of

the Scheme but this does not prevent the Rules of the Scheme for flexible retirement from applying to that Member.

67. Final Salary Scheme Revaluation Provisions

- 67.1 The Committee are responsible under Rule 10 for making recommendations to the Principal Employer as to increases in pensions and other benefits, and, in respect of the Final Salary Scheme, shall do so annually.
- 67.2 The Committee in exercising its powers under Rule 67.1 in relation to the Final Salary Scheme shall take into account as a relevant factor any change in the purchasing power of the pound sterling since it last reported, as reflected in the RPIX.
- 67.3 If the Committee resolves that retirement pensions in payment, and preserved pensions and other benefits, under these Rules should be increased with effect from 1st January of any calendar year by no more and no less than the relevant inflation factor, this Rule shall be deemed for all purposes to have been complied with as respects that calendar year and any resolution of the Committee shall have effect as if it were a resolution of the States passed after consideration of a report made in accordance with Rule 67.1.
- 67.4 For the purposes of Rule 67.3 'the relevant inflation factor' is the percentage increase in the RPIX for the 12 months ending on 30th June in the preceding year, or, in the case of benefits awarded during that year, a proportion of that percentage increase calculated as 1/365 for each day of entitlement.

68. AVCs Final Salary Scheme – Additional Benefits

- 68.1 The provisions of Rule 44 apply to Final Salary Protected Members.
- 68.2 Subject to the terms and condition of the Final Salary Rules, a Final Salary Protected Member may, with the consent of the Committee, and upon such terms as the Committee may approve, and subject to the receipt of a medical report satisfactory to the Committee, purchase additional benefits as the Committee may approve, in accordance with the provisions of Rule 68.3.
- Additional annual pension in multiples of £300 may be purchased by the Final Salary Protected Member by way of lump sum or periodical contributions (ascertained and certified as payable by the Actuary), up to a maximum total additional pension of £6,000 per annum. Such additional pension payable shall be increased from the date of purchase in accordance with Rule 67. The Committee shall be entitled to review and amend from time to time the £300

purchase multiple and the £6000 maximum total additional pension able to be purchased by a Member.

69. Final Salary Protected Members - Contributions

- 69.1 Rule 42.2, 42.3 and 42.8 and Rule 43 shall also apply to Final Salary Protected Members.
- 69.2 A Final Salary Protected Member shall, at such intervals as the Committee may from time to time determine, contribute to the Scheme:
 - (a) an amount equivalent to 7% of their Salary, except
 - (b) for females who were members of the Scheme on 31st July 1988 and who have exercised an option in accordance with The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules, 1988 to continue to contribute to the Scheme at a lower rate, who shall contribute to the Scheme an amount equivalent to 6% of their Salary;

and provided that a member of the Scheme who has attained the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age shall not contribute without the permission of the Committee.

- 69.3 In the case of a Final Salary Protected Member who is a member of the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service:
 - (a) who joined the Scheme at any time after 31st October 1991 and before the 1st January 2008, and
 - (i) who has the rank of Station Manager or below the contribution rate shall be 11.5% and not 7% provided that where such a contribution rate exceeds 10% of that Member's Applicable Gross Earnings and the Member has not provided his consent in writing to this to the Committee his contribution rate shall be 10% of his Applicable Gross Earnings and his benefits under the Scheme shall be reduced by such amount and in such manner as the Committee shall determine after obtaining the advice of the Actuary, and
 - (ii) in the case of a Final Salary Protected Member who has a rank above Station Manager, the contribution rate shall be 10% not 7%;
 - (b) who joined the Scheme after 1st January 2008, irrespective of rank, the rate shall be 9% not 7%.

- 69.4 In the case of a Final Salary Protected Member who is a member of the Guernsey Police Force:
 - (a) who joined the Scheme at any time after 31st October 1991 and before the 1st January 2008, and
 - (i) who has the rank of Chief Inspector or below the contribution rate shall be 11.5% and not 7% provided that where such a contribution rate exceeds 10% of that Member's Applicable Gross Earnings and the Member has not provided his consent in writing to this to the Committee his contribution rate shall be 10% of his Applicable Gross Earnings and his benefits under the Scheme shall be reduced by such amount and in such manner as the Committee shall determine after obtaining the advice of the Actuary; and
 - (ii) in the case of a Final Salary Protected Member who is above the rank of Chief Inspector, the contribution rate shall be 10% not 7%;
 - (b) who joined the Scheme after 1st January 2008, irrespective of rank, the rate shall be 10% not 7%.
- 69.5 Nothing in Rule 69.3 or Rule 69.4 shall prevent a Final Salary Protected Member who was a member of the Scheme at any time on or before 31st October 1991 from electing to make the higher contribution of 11.5% or 10% (as the case may be).
- 69.6 If, in consequence of ill health or injury, a Final Salary Protected Member suffers a reduction in Salary he shall contribute to the Scheme in accordance with Rule 69.2, Rule 69.3 or Rule 69.4 on his reduced Salary.
- 69.7 If, in consequence of ill health or injury, the Salary of a Final Salary Protected Member is discontinued for any period then during that period he shall not be required to contribute to the Scheme.
- 69.8 If, in consequence of his incapacity to continue to discharge efficiently the duties of his office, a Final Salary Protected Member is transferred to another position at a reduced Salary, or otherwise suffers a reduction of Salary, or if a Final Salary Protected Member is, otherwise than owing to ill health or injury, on leave of absence at a reduced Salary or is for any reason on leave of absence without Salary, he may, with the consent of the Committee, continue to contribute to the Scheme in the same amount as if his Salary had not been reduced or discontinued.

69.9 For the purposes of calculating any sum which a Member of the Final Salary Scheme is entitled to receive as compound interest on his contributions, only the balances standing to the credit of the account of the Member at the thirty-first day of December in any year shall be taken into account in calculating compound interest in respect of the following year (or part of that year if the Member leaves Service in that year) and contributions paid in any year or part of a year shall not attract interest in the year in which they are paid.

70. CARE Active Members Normal Pension Age

For the purpose of assessing benefits payable from the Final Salary Scheme, the Normal Pension Age will be used except there will be no reduction of the Pension or benefits payable under the Final Salary Scheme on the grounds that a CARE Transition Member is retiring on or after the Final Salary Normal Pension Age but before their Normal Pension Age. CARE Transition Members cannot access their Pension and other benefits while they remain in Pensionable Service.

71. Benefits for early leavers of the Final Salary Scheme

- 71.1 A Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member who, before becoming entitled to a Pension or other benefit in the Final Salary Scheme, leaves Service shall be entitled to receive in respect of benefits accrued prior to the Approbation Date and, if the Pensionable Service of such an Active Member includes a period of Pensionable Service of three months or fewer from and including the Approbation Date then in respect of benefits represented by such Pensionable Service, a Contribution Refund equal to the aggregate of his contributions to the Scheme together with compound interest on that sum at the rate of 3% pa with yearly rests at the thirty-first day of December in each year or he may request the Committee to make a transfer under Rule 33.
- 71.2 A CARE Transition Member who takes a Contribution Refund or transfer under Rule 71.1 must also take the same option for a Contribution Refund or transfer under Rule 46.3 of the CARE Scheme at the same time.
- 71.3 A Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member shall not be entitled to a Contribution Refund under Rule 71.1 if the Committee pays a transfer value in respect of that Member.

72 No re-entry into the Final Salary Scheme

If a Final Salary Protected Member leaves Pensionable Service and subsequently reenters Pensionable Service as an Eligible Employee he shall not be entitled to re-enter the Final Salary Scheme but shall be a CARE New Member under the CARE Scheme.

73. Pensionable Service

- 73.1 The Pensionable Service of a Final Salary Protected Member and CARE Transition Member (in relation to their benefits under the Final Salary Rules) for the purposes of calculating a Pension or other benefit under these Rules shall be:
 - (a) any period of Service during which the Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member is a member of the Final Salary Scheme, but any period while the Final Salary Protected Member is in employment with an Employer after the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age is not counted unless the Committee otherwise agrees;
 - (b) any period in respect of which a transfer value has been paid to the Committee in accordance with Rule 34 and approved by the Committee as Pensionable Service;
 - (c) any period during which a Final Salary Protected Member is, with the approval of the Committee, on Paid Family Leave or Unpaid Family Leave and the Final Salary Protected Member pays contributions under Rule 69;
 - (d) in the case of Existing Members of the Teachers' Scheme who elected to transfer to the Scheme pursuant to the Teachers' Regulations 2005, any period of Pensionable Service which counted in respect of that Existing Member under the Teachers' Scheme as at the date of the transfer; and
 - (e) any other period which the Committee agreed was Pensionable Service at the time of the Final Salary Protected Member's entry into the Final Salary Scheme.
- 73.2 The length of any period of Pensionable Service of a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member in Part-time Service is calculated for the Final Salary Rules in accordance with the following formula:

<u>HP</u> x LP FTP

Where

- 'HP' is the number of hours per calendar year which the Employer was entitled at the time to require the Member to devote to his employment;
- 'FTP' is the number of hours per calendar year which the Employer was entitled at the time to require a full-time Employee to devote to his employment; and

- 'LP' is the actual length (in years and any fraction of a year) of the period concerned.
- 73.3 In the case of a Teacher who is a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member and whose contract does not stipulate the number of hours per calendar year which the Employer was entitled at the time to require a full time Employee to devote to his employment (FTP) or the number of hours per calendar year which the Employer was entitled at the time to require that Member to devote to his employment (HP) the length of any period of Pensionable Service of a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member in Part-time Service is calculated in accordance with the following formula:

 $Z \times LP$

Where

- 'Z' is the percentage of the notional teaching hours to be worked by that Member at the time as is set out in that Member's contract of employment, and
- 'LP' is the actual length (in years and any fraction of a year) of the period concerned.
- Pensionable Service calculated in accordance with the Final Salary Rules shall not exceed in aggregate forty-five years. In the event that any Final Salary Protected Member, as at 1st January 2008, has, except for the application of any Rule having effect at any time on or before 31st December 2007, Pensionable Service of more than 40 years at the date of his 60th birthday, then, for the purpose of the calculation of Pensionable Service, including that acquired on or after 1st January 2008, that Member shall be treated as having 40 years' Pensionable Service as at 1st January 2008 or at the date of his 60th birthday if earlier.

74. Commutation Options – Final Salary Protected Members or CARE Transition Members

74.1 Before a Final Salary Protected Member or a CARE Transition Member (in respect of their benefits under the Final Salary Scheme) starts drawing a Pension, he may commute part of his Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) in any amount up to the maximum of 30% of the value of that part of his Pension then being taken and ascertained as at that date under the Final Salary Rules, by giving notice in writing to the Committee specifying the amount of the lump sum he wishes to draw. The Member may commute his Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) on a

basis of surrendering £1 of Pension (other than Terminal Grant) for £12 lump sum, and calculated in accordance with the following formula:

$$A\% \times [(20 \times B) + C]$$

Where

'A' is the percentage opted for by the Member up to a maximum of 30%

'B' is the annual Pension entitlement (excluding Terminal Grant), and

'C' is (in the case of Final Salary Existing Members only) the amount of the Terminal Grant

A Member wishing to commute part of his Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) under this Rule must at the same time and in the same percentage also exercise his right to commute any Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) payable under the CARE Scheme pursuant to Rule 48.

- 74.2 In respect of Final Salary Existing Members (and for the avoidance of doubt):
 - (a) the lump sum calculated and payable in accordance with this formula is inclusive of Terminal Grant;
 - (b) that having calculated the lump sum under the above formula the amount of the Terminal Grant shall be deducted and only the balance divided by 12 in order to ascertain the amount of the pension surrendered; and
 - (c) that where the amount of the lump sum ascertained under the formula is less than the amount of the Terminal Grant payable, the option in Rule 74.1 cannot be exercised.
- 74.3 The Committee may commute on grounds of Exceptional Serious Ill-health Circumstances the entirety of a Member's benefits before they come into payment on a basis determined by the Committee after obtaining the advice of the Actuary, provided that:
 - (a) the Committee has received evidence from a registered medical practitioner that the Member is expected to live for less than one year;
 - (b) the Member must have completed not less than *three months* of Pensionable Service;

- (c) The Member is assumed to have retired on the grounds of Total Incapacity and the benefits are commuted to the maximum sum calculated under Rule 74.1 to which is added a sum equal to 5 times his residual Pension remaining (after commutation and excluding Terminal Grant).
- (d) the Member has consented to the commutation unless he is unable to give his consent because of his ill-health; and
- (e) any contingent benefits due to a Spouse Qualifying Partner or Qualifying Child of the Member on his death must be separately secured by the Committee.

75. Normal Retirement for Final Salary Scheme Members

- 75.1 The Committee must pay a Final Salary Protected Member or a CARE Transition Member, who has completed at least *three months* of Pensionable Service, and who leaves Pensionable Service on reaching Normal Pension Age, a Pension calculated in accordance with the provisions of these Rules.
- 75.2 Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 75.1, a Final Salary Protected Member may continue in Pensionable Service after attaining the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age if the Committee, having received the recommendation of the Employer, approves that Member continuing in Pensionable Service, provided that the Committee may only continue that Pensionable Service from year to year and in no circumstances shall the Committee approve that a Member shall continue in Pensionable Service following their 75th birthday.
- 75.3 For the purposes of Rule 75.1 and 75.2:
 - (a) for a Final Salary Existing Member, the Final Salary Normal Pension Age shall be his 60th birthday and the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age shall be his 65th birthday;
 - (b) for a Final Salary New Member, the Final Salary Normal Pension Age and the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age shall in both cases be his 65th birthday.
- 75.4 The Committee may pay a Final Salary Protected Member or a CARE Transition Member who has attained their Final Salary Normal Pension Age and who leaves Pensionable Service a Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) calculated as follows:
 - (a) for a Final Salary Existing Member one eightieth; or

(b) for a Final Salary New Member one sixtieth,

of their Final Pensionable Salary, for each completed year or part of a year of Pensionable Service.

- 75.5 The Committee may also pay a Terminal Grant to a Final Salary Existing Member who has attained their Final Salary Normal Pension Age and who leaves Pensionable Service, calculated as follows:
 - (a) in the case of a Final Salary Existing Member who entered Pensionable Service on or after 1st October 1972, by multiplying his Final Pensionable Salary by 3/80 for each year of Pensionable Service;
 - (b) in the case of a Final Salary Existing Member who entered Pensionable Service before 1st October 1972:
 - (i) by multiplying his Final Pensionable Salary by 3/80ths for each year of Pensionable Service after 1st October 1972,
 - (ii) by multiplying his Final Pensionable Salary by 3/80ths for each year of Pensionable Service for the purposes of the Contingency Funds Rules prior to 1st October 1972,
 - (iii) by multiplying his Final Pensionable Salary:
 - (A) in the case of a bachelor, by 2/80ths;
 - (B) in the case of any other male Member, by 1/80th;
 - (C) in the case of a female Member, by 1/30th;

for each year of Pensionable Service not being Pensionable Service for the purposes of the Contingency Funds Rules prior to 1st October 1972,

and aggregating the products.

- 75.6 No Terminal Grant shall be payable to a Final Salary New Member.
- 76. Pensionable Service and Final Salary Normal Pension Age for Final Salary Existing Members employed by the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or Airport Fire and Rescue Service

- 76.1 The following special provisions of this Rule 76 shall apply to a Final Salary Protected Member or a CARE Transition Member (in relation to the calculation of benefits under the Final Salary Scheme) who is a Final Salary Existing Member and employed by the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service in respect of his period of Pensionable Service with the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or Airport Fire and Rescue Service.
- 76.2 Each year of Pensionable Service of a Final Salary Existing Member employed by either of those services before he attains the age of 55 shall, except for Pensionable Service in excess of 30 years, be counted as one and a third years;
- 76.3 For a Final Salary Existing Member with the rank of Station Manager or below, the Final Salary Normal Pension Age shall be their 50th birthday and the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age shall be their 55th birthday;
- 76.4 For a Final Salary Existing Member with a rank above the role of Station Manager the Final Salary Normal Pension Age shall be their 55th birthday and the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age shall be their 60th birthday;
- 76.5 The years, or years in the aggregate, of Pensionable Service of a Final Salary Existing Member with a rank above the role of Station Manager may exceed 40 years at his Final Salary Normal Pension Age notwithstanding Rule 73.4.
- 77. Pensionable Service and Final Salary Normal Pension Age for Final Salary New Members employed by the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service
- 77.1 The following provisions shall apply to a Final Salary Protected Member or a CARE Transition Member (in relation to the calculation of benefits under the Final Salary Scheme) who is a Final Salary New Member and employed by the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or Airport Fire and Rescue Service in respect of his period of Pensionable Service with the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or Airport Fire and Rescue Service.
- 77.2 For a Final Salary New Member the Final Salary Normal Pension Age is their 60th birthday and the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age is their 65th birthday;
- 77.3 A Final Salary New Member who is aged 55 or above may be retired by his Employer with the consent of the Committee if it is considered by the Employer to be in the interests of the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service (as the case may be) and in which case a Pension shall be payable at the date of retirement.

- 78. Pensionable Service and Final Salary Normal Pension Age for Final Salary Existing Members who are members of the Guernsey Police Force
- 78.1 The following special provisions of this Rule shall apply to a Final Salary Protected Member or a CARE Transition Member (in relation to the calculation of benefits under the Final Salary Scheme) who is a Final Salary Existing Member and a member of the Guernsey Police Force in respect of the period of his Pensionable Service with the Guernsey Police Force:
 - (a) for a Final Salary Existing Member below the rank of Inspector, the Final Salary Normal Pension Age shall be his 50th birthday if he has completed 25 years' police service and the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age shall be his 55th birthday;
 - (b) for a Final Salary Existing Member of the rank of Inspector or Chief Inspector the Final Salary Normal Pension Age is his 50th birthday if he has completed 25 years' police service and the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age shall be his 60th birthday;
 - (c) for a Final Salary Existing Member above the rank of Chief Inspector the Final Salary Normal Pension Age is his 55th birthday if he has completed 25 years' police service and the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age shall be his 60th birthday.
- 78.2 Each year of police service of a Final Salary Existing Member, of whatever rank, shall, except for years of police service in excess of 30 years, be counted as one and one third years of Pensionable Service and each year of service after 30 years shall count as one year of Pensionable Service up to a maximum of 5 years.
- 78.3 If a Final Salary Existing Member completes 25 years' police service before reaching his 50th birthday he may be granted a Pension except that the Pension shall not be paid until the date on which he reaches his 50th birthday unless the Committee approves an earlier date for payment.
- 78.4 The years, or years in aggregate, of Pensionable Service of a Member who is above the rank of Chief Inspector may exceed 40 years at his Final Salary Normal Pension Age notwithstanding Rule 73.4.
- 79. Pensionable Service and Final Salary Normal Pension Age for Final Salary New Members who are members of the Guernsey Police Force

- 79.1 The following special provisions of this Rule shall apply to a Final Salary New Member who is a member of the Guernsey Police Force in respect of the period of his Pensionable Service with the Guernsey Police Force.
- 79.2 For a Final Salary New Member the Final Salary Normal Pension Age is his 55th birthday and the Final Salary Compulsory Retirement Age is his 65th birthday.
- 79.3 Each year of police service of a Final Salary New Member, of whatever rank, shall, except for years of police service in excess of 35 years, be counted as one and one seventh year of Pensionable Service.
- 79.4 In this Rule the expression 'Guernsey Police Force' means service as a member of the Guernsey Police Force and includes service as a member of any other police force approved by the Committee as police service.

80. Early Retirement for Final Salary Active Members by reason of Total or Partial Incapacity

If, in the opinion of the Committee (after having consulted with the Employer and taken medical and other relevant advice), a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member is unable effectively to discharge his duties by reason of incapacity, he may be retired by the Employer with the prior approval of the Committee before his Normal Pension Age and in such case he shall be entitled on his retirement to a Pension calculated as follows:

- (a) if he is retired by reason of Total Incapacity and provided the Ill Health Condition is met, he shall be entitled to a Pension based on the Member's Pensionable Service plus in the case of Final Salary Protected Members (only) the Additional Pensionable Service provided further that if Rule 43 applies the Additional Pensionable Service shall be half rate or nil as the case may be; or
- (b) if he is retired by reason of Partial Incapacity and provided the Ill Health Condition is met he shall be entitled to a Pension based on the Member's Pensionable Service; or
- (c) if the Member's years of Pensionable Service are less than *three months*, that Member shall be entitled (whether he is retired for Total or Partial Incapacity) to a payment:
 - (i) equal to 1/12 of Final Pensionable Salary and, if a Final Salary Existing Member, a Terminal Grant;

or

(ii) a Contribution Refund in respect of benefits accrued under the Scheme prior to the Approbation Date and, if the Pensionable Service of such an Active Member includes a period of Pensionable Service of three months or fewer from and including the Approbation Date then in respect of benefits represented by such Pensionable Service, plus compound interest at 3% per annum with yearly rests at each 31st December, whichever is the greater.

81. Benefits for early leavers from the Final Salary Scheme

- 81.1 If a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member:
 - (a) retires or resigns from Pensionable Service;
 - (b) before attaining his Normal Pension Age; and
 - (c) has at least *three months* of Pensionable Service,

he shall become a Final Salary Deferred Member (in relation to his benefits under the Final Salary Scheme) and the Committee shall pay him a Pension upon him reaching his Normal Pension Age.

81.2 Unless the Committee otherwise agrees, the Pension shall not be paid until he reaches his Final Salary Normal Pension Age.

82. Early Retirement for a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member

- 82.1 This Rule applies in the case of a Final Salary Protected Member or a CARE Transition Member who:
 - (a) is in the case of a Final Salary Existing Member between the age of 50 and his Normal Pension Age and in the case of a Final Salary New Member is between the age of 55 and his Normal Pension Age (and noting that this is in the case of a Final Salary New Member of the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service or the Guernsey Police Force, the age of 65); and
 - (b) is entitled to a Pension which is not to be paid until he attains his Normal Pension Age or in the case of a Final Salary New Member of the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service or the Guernsey Police Force, the age of 65; and

- (c) has given to the Committee at least 3 months' written notice (or such shorter period of written notice as the Committee may accept in his particular case) of his election for actuarially reduced benefits on and after a date specified in the notice (the Payment Date).
- 82.2 In a case in which this Rule applies the Member shall be entitled, in place of any other benefits to which he may otherwise have become entitled under these Final Salary Rules on the Payment Date, to an actuarially calculated proportion of the Pension which would have been payable if he had reached his Normal Pension Age on the Payment Date, subject to the provisions of Rule 70.
- 82.3 The actuarially calculated proportions referred to in this Rule are such as are ascertainable by reference to tables prepared by the Actuary from time to time and published by the Committee for the purposes of this Rule as at the Payment Date.
- 82.4 A notice given under Rule 82.1(c) may be withdrawn by a further notice in writing given to the Committee by the Member at any time before, but not on or after, the Payment Date.
- 82.5 Rule 74 shall apply to any Member wishing to elect for actuarially reduced benefits under this Rule 82.

83. Early Retirement for Final Salary Deferred Members

With the Committee's consent a Final Salary Deferred Member may draw a pension:

- (a) After attaining the Normal Minimum Pension Age to which the provisions of Rule 82 applies; or
- (b) If he is suffering from Total Incapacity.
- 84. Rules on Early Retirement From the Final Salary Scheme on grounds of Redundancy or Diminished Efficiency no longer apply

Rule 26 and Rule 27 of the Original Documents shall no longer have effect.

- 85. Partial retirement for a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member
- 85.1 This Rule applies in the case of a Final Salary Protected Member and CARE Transition Member:
 - (a) who is over the age of 55; and

- (b) has two or more years' Pensionable Service; and
- (c) who has given to the Committee at least 3 months written notice (or such shorter period of written notice as the Committee may accept in his particular case) of his election for a partial Pension of not more than 75% of his accrued Pension on and after a date specified in the notice (the Partial Pension Payment Date); and
- (d) where, immediately following the taking of a partial Pension, the Salary received by that member will be reduced by 20% or more from the Salary received by that Member immediately prior to the taking of the partial Pension.
- 85.2 In a case in which this Rule applies the Member shall be entitled, in substitution for any other benefits to which he may otherwise have become entitled under any other provision of these Rules on the Partial Pension Payment Date, to an actuarially calculated proportion of the Pension payable in relation to that proportion of the accrued benefits to which the partial Pension notice relates as if he had left Service on that date.
- 85.3 The actuarially calculated proportions referred to in this Rule are such as are ascertainable by reference to tables prepared by the Actuary from time to time and published by the Committee for the purposes of this Rule as at the Partial Pension Payment Date.
- 85.4 A notice given under sub-paragraph 85.1(c) of this Rule may be withdrawn, by a further notice in writing given to the Committee by the Member, at any time before, but not on or after, the Partial Pension Payment Date.
- 85.5 A member may not elect to take a partial Pension on more than two occasions.
- Rule 74 in relation to commutation of pension benefits to lump sums shall be applicable to any member wishing to take a partial pension under this Rule 85.
- 85.7 Any Pension payable to a Member upon retiring (whether before or after reaching his Normal Pension Age) shall be reduced by the amount of the benefits paid under this Rule and the residual benefits together with any that accrue from Pensionable Service following the taking of the partial Pension shall then comprise the basis of any further Pension entitlement upon the Member leaving Service.
- 85.8 If a Partial Retirement Member who has exercised an option under this Rule 85 dies before starting to draw his residual Pension (excluding any Terminal Grant),

the death benefits payable must be calculated in accordance with Rule 86 (death in Service applied to the residual Salary) and Rule 88 (death in retirement), and the lump sum payable is the lesser of the aggregate of both those sums or 3 times the amount of the Member's Salary prior to exercising the election under Rule 85.1.

- 86. Death of a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member whilst in Pensionable Service
- 86.1 In this Rule 86 (including the Tables):
 - (a) **'Death in Service Lump Sum'** means a sum equal to three times the Member's Final Pensionable Salary at the date of his death;
 - (b) **'Pensionable Salary Entitlement'** means ¼ of the member's Final Pensionable Salary at the date of his death payable in three equal monthly instalments in arrears during the three months following that date;
 - (c) **'Pension'** for the purpose of this Rule excludes Terminal Grant;
 - (d) **'AVC Member Benefit'** means benefits payable as a result of the payment of AVC Member Contribution;
 - (e) 'AVC Member Spouse Benefit' means benefits payable as a result of the payment of AVC Member Spouse Contribution.
 - (f) 'AVC Member Contribution' means AVCs paid by the Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member (in relation to the Final Salary Scheme) under Rule 68.3 for Member added pension only and not for Spouse or Qualifying Partner added pension.
 - (g) 'AVC Member Spouse Contribution' means AVCs paid by the Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member (in relation to the Final Salary Scheme) under Rule 68.3 for Member and Spouse or Qualifying Partner added pension.
 - (h) Where there is an additional Pension payable for a second or more Qualifying Child, this Pension is the total amount and is not payable for any further Qualifying Child;
 - (i) Payments for a Qualifying Child are payable only for as long as they remain a Qualifying Child;

- (j) **'Pensionable Service to count for Spouse benefits (or family benefits)'** means that in relation to the entitlement to benefits under the Scheme:
 - (i) a Spouse or Qualifying Partner pension is not payable to the Spouse or Qualifying Partner of a female Member who opted at that time under the States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules 1988 (the 1988 Rules) to continue to contribute to the Scheme at 5% of their Salary;
 - (ii) in respect of a female Member who opted at that time under the 1988 Rules to contribute 6%, then her Pensionable Service from 1st November 1988 shall count towards a Spouse pension unless she paid back contributions in accordance with the 1988 Rules and in which case all her Pensionable Service will count;
 - (iii) in respect of a female Member who opted to continue to contribute to the Scheme at the lower contribution rate under the 1988 Rules but then elected to increase her contribution under the States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Widowers' Benefits) Rules 1998, the entitlement to a Pension or other benefits of the Spouse is to be ascertained as at the date when the election took effect;
 - (iv) benefits payable to a Qualifying Partner shall be based:
 - (A) for those Deferred Members or Pensioners who had left Pensionable Service prior to 1st June 2019, on the deceased Members' Pensionable Service accruing after the 1st January 2008 (if any); and
 - (B) for Active Members who were Active Members on 1st June 2019 or who joined the Scheme on or after the 1st June 2019, on all the deceased Members' Pensionable Service that counts for Spouse benefits;
 - (v) in relation to a former Member or deceased former Member who left the Scheme at any time before 31st December 2007, Pensionable Service will not count towards a Pension for any Spouse who has remarried since the date of death of the Member;
 - (vi) in relation to a Member or former Member, only Pensionable Service from 6th April 1978 will count towards the Pension for a Spouse who married that Member after the date when the Service of the Member terminated, for whatever reason;

- (vii) in relation to an Ex-Teacher Member, Pensionable Service for the period prior to their date of transfer from the Teachers' Scheme to the Final Salary Scheme shall be ascertained by reference to the provisions for relevant service in the Teachers' Regulations and as from the date of their transfer to the Final Salary Scheme prior to the Transition Date ascertained in accordance with the Final Salary Rules (and as amended by these Rules).
- (k) In the formula:
 - 'A' = Pensionable Service of Member at death
 - 'B' = Additional Pensionable Service, provided that if Rule 43 applies this shall be half rate or nil rate as the case may be
 - 'C' = Final Pensionable Salary
 - D' = Pensionable Service to count for Spouse benefits (or family) benefits at death
- 86.2 If a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member dies whilst in Pensionable Service the Committee shall pay a Pension:
 - (a) to his Spouse or (subject to the provision of Evidence of Financial Dependence) a Qualifying Partner; or
 - (b) if the Member is not survived by a Spouse or Qualifying Partner but is survived by a Qualifying Child, to such person as the Committee may in its discretion determine for the benefit of that Qualifying Child (or children) (if more than one in equal shares); or
 - (c) if the Member is survived neither by a Spouse, Qualifying Partner nor by a Qualifying Child, to his legal personal representative; and
 - (d) provided that if and for so long as the Member is survived by a Qualifying Child who is not in the custody of the Member's Spouse or Qualifying Partner, any pension payable in respect of that Qualifying Child shall be paid to such person as the Committee may in its discretion determine for the Qualifying Child's benefit.
- 86.3 CARE Transition Members shall receive a Pension in accordance with this Rule 86 in relation to Pensionable Service under the Final Salary Rules except that in the calculation of the benefits:

- (a) the Death in Service Lump Sum; and
- (b) Pensionable Salary Entitlement; and
- (c) the AVC Member Benefit, the AVC Member Spouse Benefit and DC Account

shall not be payable; and

(d) there shall be excluded from any calculation any entitlement to Additional Pensionable Service,

and any such benefits in (a) - (d) shall be taken into account in relation to benefits payable under the CARE Scheme.

86.4 Pension on the death of a Final Salary Protected Member in Pensionable Service but with less than two years' Pensionable Service:

Member survived by	Member not survived by	Member not survived by		
Spouse or Qualifying	Spouse or Qualifying	either Spouse or		
Partner (with or without	Partner but survived by	Qualifying Partner or		
Qualifying Child)	Qualifying Child	Qualifying Child		
• Death in Service	• Death in Service	• Death in Service		
Lump Sum;	Lump Sum;	Lump Sum;		
• Pensionable Salary	• Pensionable Salary	 DC Account; 		
Entitlement;	Entitlement;	• AVC Member		
DC Account;	DC Account;	Contribution;		
• AVC Member	• AVC Member	AVC Member Spouse		
Contribution;	Contribution;	Contribution		
AVC Member Spouse	AVC Member Spouse			
Contribution	Contribution			

86.5 Pension on the death of a Final Salary Protected Member or CARE Transition Member in Pensionable Service with two or more years Pensionable Service:

1. Member survived by Spouse or	2. Member survived by Spouse or		
Qualifying Partner, with no Qualifying	Qualifying Partner, with no Qualifying		
Child and all Pensionable Service	Child and not all Pensionable Service		
counts for Spouse benefits	counts for Spouse benefits		
Death in Service Lump Sum;	Death in Service Lump Sum;		
Pensionable Salary Entitlement;	Pensionable Salary Entitlement;		
• Spouse or Qualifying Partner	• Spouse or Qualifying Partner		
Pension calculated in accordance	Pension calculated in accordance		
with the following formula:	with the following formula:		

1/160 x (A+B) x C	1/160 x (D + B) x C
DC Account;	DC Account;
 AVC Member Contribution; 	AVC Member Contribution;
 AVC Member Spouse Benefit 	AVC Member Spouse Benefit

- 3. Member survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner with Qualifying Child where all Pensionable Service counts for Spouse benefits counts for Spouse benefits Death in Service Lump Sum; Death in Service Lump Sum; Pensionable Salary Entitlement; Pensionable Salary Entitlement; Spouse or Qualifying Partner
- Pension calculated in accordance with the following formula: $1/160 \times (A + B) \times C$ an additional pension for first an additional
- Qualifying Child calculated in accordance with the following formula $1/320 \times (A + B) \times C$
- an additional pension for second Qualifying Child (or children) calculated in accordance with the following formula: 1/320 x (A + B) x C
- DC Account;
- AVC Member Contribution;
- **AVC Member Spouse Benefit**

- Member survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner with Qualifying Child where not all Pensionable Service
- Spouse or Qualifying Partner pension calculated in accordance with the following formula: $1/160 \times (D + B) \times C$
- pension for first Qualifying Child calculated in accordance with the following formula: $1/240 \times (A - D) \times C + 1/320 [D + B] \times$
- an additional pension for second Qualifying Child (or children) calculated in accordance with the following formula: $1/240 \times (A - D) \times C + 1/320 [D + B] \times$ DC Account:
- **AVC Member Contribution:**
- **AVC Member Spouse Benefit**
- Ex-Teacher Member survived Ex Teacher Member 6. by Spouse or Qualifying Partner with survived by Spouse or Qualifying Qualifying Child but where not all Partner with Qualifying Child but Pensionable Service counts for family where not all Pensionable Service counts for family benefits. benefits. Death in Service Lump Sum; Death in Service Lump Sum; Pensionable Salary Entitlement; Pensionable Salary Entitlement; Spouse or Qualifying Partner a pension for first Qualifying Child pension calculated in accordance calculated in accordance with the
 - with the following formula: following formula: $1/160 \times [D + B] \times C$ $1/240 \times (D + B) \times C$ an additional pension for second Qualifying Child (or children)

- a pension for first Qualifying Child calculated in accordance with the following formula: $1/320 \times (D + B) \times C$
- an additional pension for second Qualifying Child (or children) calculated in accordance with the following formula: $1/320 \times (D + B) \times C$
- DC Account;
- AVC Member Contribution;
- **AVC Member Spouse Benefit**

- calculated in accordance with the following formula: $1/240 \times (D + B) \times C$
- DC Account;
- AVC Member Contribution;
- **AVC Member Spouse Contribution**

- Member survived by Qualifying Child but not a Spouse or Qualifying Partner whether or not all Pensionable Service counts for Spouse benefits.
- Death in Service Lump Sum;
- Pensionable Salary Entitlement;
- a pension for first Qualifying Child calculated in accordance with the following formula: $1/240 \times (A + B) \times C$
- an additional pension for second Qualifying Child (or children) calculated in accordance with the following formula:
 - 1/240 x (A + B) x C
- DC Account;
- AVC Member Contribution;
- **AVC Member Spouse Contribution**

- Member survived by Spouse or Qualifying Partner and Qualifying Child but the Spouse or Qualifying Partner does not qualify for benefits.
- Death in Service Lump Sum;
- Pensionable Salary Entitlement;
- a pension for first Qualifying Child calculated in accordance with the following formula: $1/240 \times (A + B) \times C$
- an additional pension for second Qualifying Child (or children) calculated in accordance with the following formula: $1/240 \times (A + B) \times C$
- DC Account;
- AVC Member Contribution;
- **AVC Member Spouse Benefit**
- 9. Member not survived by either Qualifying Partner Spouse or Qualifying Child
- Death in Service Lump Sum;
- DC Account;
- AVC Member Contribution;
- **AVC Member Spouse Contribution**

87. Death of a Final Salary Deferred Member

87.1 If a Final Salary Deferred Member dies before reaching his Normal Pension Age the Committee shall pay:

- (a) for Final Salary Existing Members, a Pension ascertained in accordance with the Rules of the Final Salary Scheme in force at 31st December 2007 and payable to the Beneficiary who would have been entitled if the Final Salary Deferred Member had been a Final Salary Protected Member on the date when he left that employment;
- (b) For Final Salary New Members, a pension ascertained by reference to the Pensionable Service of that Member as if he had died whilst in Pensionable Service on the date when he left Pensionable Service and payable to the Beneficiary who would have been entitled as if the Final Salary New Member had died whilst in Pensionable Service on the date when he left Pensionable Service;
- (c) In the case of a Final Salary New Member, if there is no Beneficiary eligible to receive a pension under Rule 87.1(b), a refund of the Member Contributions shall be payable to the personal representative of the deceased Member or to such other person as the Committee approve for the benefit of the estate of the Final Salary New Member;
- (d) the:
 - DC Account;
 - the AVC Member Contribution; and
 - the AVC Member Spouse Benefit.
- 87.2 The amount of any Pension payable under Rule 87.1 shall include any increase in accordance with recommendations made by the Committee and approved by the Principal Employer since the relevant date.
- 87.3 For a CARE Deferred Member who was a CARE Transition Member (and so that this provision applies in respect of both Final Salary New Members and Final Salary Existing Members) Rule 87.1 and 87.2 apply in relation to any period of Pensionable Service up to Transition Date.

88. Death of a Final Salary Pensioner Member

88.1 If a Final Salary Pensioner Member dies whilst in receipt of a Pension the Committee shall pay to the Beneficiary who would have been entitled to any benefit under Rule 86 if that Member had been in Pensionable Service at the date of his death:

- (a) in relation to Final Salary Protected Members, if the Pension paid to him is less than the amount of any Terminal Grant which would have been paid if he had died on the date of his retirement, the difference; and
- (b) in relation to CARE Transition Members, if the aggregate of the Pension paid to him under both the Final Salary Rules and CARE Rules together with the benefit specified in Box 1 of Rule 57.4 is less than the amount of any Terminal Grant which would have been paid if he had died on the date of his retirement, the difference; and
- (c) in relation to both Final Salary Protected Members and CARE Transition Members, if and for so long as he is survived by a Spouse or Qualifying Partner or by a Qualifying Child (or children):
 - (i) for the three months following his death, a pension equal to his actual Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) at the date of his death; and
 - (ii) thereafter, a Pension calculated in accordance with Rule 86 ascertained at the date of his retirement but substituting the following formula values and increased in accordance with Rule 67:
 - A = Pensionable Service of Member at retirement
 - B = C
 - C = Final Pensionable Salary
 - D = Pensionable Service to count for Spouse benefits (or family) benefits at the date of retirement

(subject in each case to there being Pensionable Service to count for Spouse's benefits or family benefits).

89 Regulation 26(1) of the Teachers' Regulations

- 89.1 In the case of any Existing Member of the Teachers' Scheme
 - (a) who elected to transfer to the Final Salary Scheme pursuant to the Teachers' Regulations 2005; and
 - (b) to whom the provisions of Regulation 26 (1) of the Teachers' Regulations applies; and
 - (c) that person has a guaranteed minimum pension,

- then the provisions of Regulations 26 (3) (6) (inclusive) shall apply to that person as if those provisions were set out in full in these Rules.
- 89.2 The provisions of Regulations 26 (3) (6) shall take precedence over any other Rule in the Final Salary Rules that is inconsistent with them in relation to that person, but in all other respects the Final Salary Rules shall continue to apply in full.

Part 4 Teachers' Pension Scheme

Note: These Rules are to be read in accordance with and consistently with the Teachers' Scheme established under the Teachers Regulations. Except to the extent that they are amended by this Part 4 these Rules incorporate the provisions of the Teachers' Scheme in force as at 29th February 2016 in relation to the Teachers' Pension Scheme (only).

90. Transitional Provisions – CARE Transition Members

Active Members of the Teachers' Scheme on the day that is immediately prior to the Transition Date who were within 10 years of their Normal Pension Age (ascertained in accordance with the Teachers' Scheme) as at 31st December 2013 automatically remain in the Teachers' Scheme if they have not elected within one month after the Transition Date to join the CARE Scheme. All other Active Members of the Teachers' Scheme and those who opt to join the CARE Scheme are CARE Transition Members.

91 Teachers' Pension Scheme to remain in force

- 91.1 The Teachers' Scheme has been closed to Eligible Employees since the implementation of the Teachers' Superannuation (Guernsey) Amendment) Regulations 2005, and Eligible Employees have since that time joined the Scheme as Final Salary Scheme Members. From 1st May 2015, Eligible Employees are only entitled to join as CARE Active Members.
- 91.2 The CARE Rules apply to CARE Transition Members who have joined or elected to join the Scheme under Rule 90 with effect from the Transition Date, and the Teachers' Scheme apply to CARE Transition Members for their Pensionable Service up to (but not including) the Transition Date.

92. Amendments to The Teachers' Scheme

The Teachers' Scheme shall be amended by:

(a) substituting 30% for the percentage of 25% in the commutation option of pension for lump sum; and

(b) substituting 20% for the percentage of 25% in the partial pension option but except as stated in this Rule the Teachers' Scheme remain unchanged.

Part 5 Original Documents (Governing the Final Salary Rules as at 29th February 2016)

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) Rules, 1972 to 2007

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Medical and Hospital Staff) Rules, 1975

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Non-Teaching Staff) (Elizabeth College) Rules, 1975

Pensions Interchange Arrangements

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Supplementary) Rules, 1973 (Repealed)

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Medical and Hospital Staff) (Amendment) Rules, 1982

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules, 1988

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (F.S.S.N Employees) Rules, 1991

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Pre-vesting-day Postal Employees) Rules, 1994

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules, 1997

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment No.2) Rules, 1997

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Senior Police and Fire Brigade Officers) (Amendment) Rules, 1998

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Widowers' Benefits) Rules, 1998

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Medical and Hospital Staff) (Amendment) Rules, 1998

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Permitted Investments) (Amendment) Rules, 1999

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules, 1999

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules, 2001

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules, 2004

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules, 2005

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules, 2006

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules, 2007

The States of Guernsey (Public Servants) (Pensions and other Benefits) (Amendment) Rules, 2010

Part 6 Normal Pension Age for CARE Members who were members of the Final Salary Scheme on 29th February 2016

The Normal Pension Age for CARE Members who were members of the Final Salary Scheme on 29th February 2016 shall be as follows:

Date of Birth	Normal Pension Age
Before I January 1955	65
1 January 1955 to 31 October 1955	65 2/12
1 November 1955 to 31 August 1956	65 4/12
1 September 1956 to 30 June 1957	65 6/12
1 July 1957 to 30 April 1958	65 8/12
1 May 1958 to 28 February 1959	65 10/12

1 March 1959 to 31 December 1959	66
1 January 1960 to 31 October 1960	66 2/12
1 November 1960 to 31 August 1961	66 4/12
1 September 1961 to 30 June 1962	66 6/12
1 July 1962 to 30 April 1963	66 8/12
1 May 1963 to 29 February 1964	66 10/12
1 March 1964 to 31 December 1964	67
1 January 1965 to 31 October 1965	67 2/12
1 November 1965 to 31 August 1966	67 4/12
1 September 1966 to 30 June 1967	67 6/12
1 July 1967 to 30 April 1968	67 8/12
1 May 1968 to 28 February 1969	67 10/12
1 Mar 1969 to 31 December 1969	68
1 January 1970 to 31 October 1970	68 2/12
1 November 1970 to 31 August 1971	68 4/12
1 September 1971 to 30 June 1972	68 6/12
1 July 1972 to 30 April 1973	68 8/12
1 May 1973 to 28 February 1974	68 10/12
1 March 1974 to 31 December 1974	69
1 January 1975 to 31 October 1975	69 2/12
1 November 1975 to 31 August 1976	69 4/12
1 September 1976 to 30 June 1977	69 6/12
1 July 1977 to 30 April 1978	69 8/12
1 May 1978 to 28 February 1979	69 10/12
From 1 March 1979	70

Part 7 Special transition provisions for CARE Transition Members admitted and accruing benefits with effect from the Transition Date.

1. Special Transition Provisions

- 1.1 A CARE Transition Member who was admitted and has started to accrue benefits under the CARE Rules with effect from the Transition Date (under the second sentence of Rule 40.1) may at any time before the 22nd day of November 2019 elect (in accordance with this Part 7) to be subject to the special transition provisions set out in this Part 7 in substitution for the provisions of the CARE Rules that otherwise would have applied to them. Except as expressly varied by this Part 7 all other Rules of the Scheme shall continue to apply.
- 1.2 In this Part 7 a CARE Transition Member who has made a valid election is called an Elected CARE Transition Member.

2. Election

- 2.1 A CARE Transition Member, who is eligible under paragraph 1 of this Part 7 to make an election shall do so in writing by no later than 5.00 pm on 22nd day of November 2019, ('closing date') on the prescribed form of election issued to them by the Committee.
- 2.2 The Committee shall issue those forms not later than 5.00 pm on 28th day of May 2019 to members of the Scheme who are eligible to make an election.
- 2.3 Any CARE Transition Member who shall have failed for whatever reason to make an election by the closing date shall not be entitled to elect to be subject to the provisions of this Part 7 unless the Committee, in its sole discretion (acting reasonably) agrees to accept that election out of time.

3. Normal Pension Age

Subject to paragraphs 6, 7 and 8 of this Part 7:

- 3.1 The Normal Pension Age for an Elected CARE Transition Member is the date they attain the age of 65, subject to them remaining in Pensionable Service until the Normal Minimum Pension Age.
- 3.2 The Normal Minimum Pension Age for an Elected CARE Transition Member is the Final Salary Normal Pension Age less ten years but subject to a minimum age of 50.

4. Pension Accrual and Terminal Grant

- 4.1 The accrual rate (see Rule 50.2(b)) is one eightieth.
- 4.2 In addition, there is payable to an Elected CARE Transition Member a Terminal Grant calculated at three times the Elected CARE Transition Member's Pension (excluding Terminal Grant) payable at the Elected CARE Transition Member's Normal Pension Age¹

5. Elected CARE Transition Member Contribution Rate

- 5.1 For the purposes of Rule 42.1 an Elected CARE Transition Member whilst an Active Member must pay Member Contributions to the Committee as follows:
 - (a) From the Transition Date until 31st December 2019, 7% of his Salary;

¹ Note that the lump sum for any period prior to the Transition Date is addressed under the Final Salary Rules)

- (b) From 1st January 2020 7.5% of his Salary.
- 5.2 An Elected CARE Transition Member will (notwithstanding Paragraph 5.1 and subject to Paragraph 5.3 of this Part 7) accrue their benefits under the CARE Rules as if they had paid 7.5% of their Salary from the Transition Date.
- 5.3 The assumption under Paragraph 5.2 that an Elected CARE Transition Member had paid 7.5% of their Salary from the Transition Date does not apply:
 - (a) in determining Member Contributions paid on Salary in excess of the Earnings Cap under Rule 42.4; or
 - (b) where there is a Contribution Refund paid to the Member under Rule 46.3.
- 6. Elected CARE Transition Members who are employed by the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service
- 6.1 With effect from the Transition Date the Normal Pension Age and the rate of Member Contributions for an Elected CARE Transition Member who is employed by the Guernsey Fire and Rescue Service or the Airport Fire and Rescue Service is as follows:

Class of Employee	Normal Pension	Rate of Member
_ ,	Age	Contributions
Those who joined	55 subject to the	(a) From the Transition Date
the Service prior to	Active Member	until 31st December 2019,
1st January 2008	remaining in Service	9.25% of his Salary;
	with the Guernsey	
	Fire and Rescue	(b) From 1st January 2020,
	Service or the	9.75% of his Salary.
	Airport Fire and	
	Rescue Service until	
	the date they attain	
	55 years.	
Those who joined	60 subject to the	An Elected CARE Transition
the Service after the	Active Member	Member employed by the
31st December 2007	remaining in Service	Guernsey Fire and Rescue
	with the Guernsey	Service or the Airport Fire and
	Fire and Rescue	Rescue Service will
	Service or the	(notwithstanding sub-
	Airport Fire and	paragraph (a)) accrue their
	Rescue Service until	benefits under the CARE Rules

the dat	e they	attain	as if t	hey had p	oaid 9.75	5% of
60 years	3.		their	Salary	from	the
			Transi	tion Date	but subje	ect to
			Paragr	aph 6.2 .		

- 6.2 The assumption under Paragraph 6.1 that an Elected CARE Transition Member had paid 9.75% of their Salary from the Transition Date does not apply:
 - (a) in determining Member Contributions paid on Salary in excess of the Earnings Cap under Rule 42.4; or
 - (b) where there is a Contribution Refund paid to the Member under Rule 46.3.

7. Elected CARE Transition Members who are members of the Guernsey Police Force

7.1 With effect from the Transition Date the Normal Pension Age and rate of Member Contributions for an Elected CARE Transition Member who is a Member of the Guernsey Police Force is as follows:

Normal Pension Age	Rate of Member Contributions			
55 subject to the Active	(a) From the Transition Date until 31st			
Member remaining in Service	December 2019, 9.25% of his Salary;			
with the Guernsey Police				
Force until the date they	(b) From 1st January 2020, 9.75% of his Salary.			
attain 55 years.				
	An Elected CARE Transition Member who is			
	a member of the Guernsey Police Force will			
	(notwithstanding sub-paragraph (a)) accrue			
	their benefits under the CARE Rules as if			
	they had paid 9.75% of their Salary from the			
	Transition Date but subject to Paragraph 7.2.			

- 7.2 The assumption under Paragraph 7.1 that an Elected CARE Transition Member had paid 9.75% of their Salary from the Transition Date does not apply:
 - (a) in determining Member Contributions paid on Salary in excess of the Earnings Cap under Rule 42.4; or
 - (b) where there is a Contribution Refund paid to the Member under Rule 46.3.

- 8. Elected CARE Transition Members employed as a Nurse or Mental Health Officer
- 8.1 With effect from the Transition Date the Normal Pension Age and rate of Member Contributions for an Elected CARE Transition Member who is employed as a Nurse or Mental Health Officer is as follows:

Normal Pension Age	Rate of Member Contributions			
55 or the Final Salary Normal	(a) From the Transition Date until 31st			
Pension Age (if higher)	December 2019, 7% of his Salary;			
subject to the Active Member				
remaining employed as a	(b) From 1st January 2020, 7.5% of his Salary.			
Nurse or Mental Health				
Officer until the date they				
attain 55 years.				
	An Elected CARE Transition Member who is			
	employed as a Nurse or Mental Health			
	Officer will (notwithstanding sub-paragraph			
	(a)) accrue their benefits under the CARE			
	Rules as if they had paid 7.5% of their Salary			
	from the Transition Date but subject to			
	Paragraph 8.2.			

- 8.2 The assumption under Paragraph 8.1 that an Elected CARE Transition Member had paid 7.5% of their Salary from the Transition Date does not apply:
 - (a) in determining Member Contributions paid on Salary in excess of the Earnings Cap under Rule 42.4; or
 - (b) where there is a Contribution Refund paid to the Member under Rule 46.3.

9. Elected CARE Transition Members treated as CARE New Members

- 9.1 Except for the specific provisions set out in paragraphs 1-8 of this Part 7, and subject to paragraph 9.2 and 9.3, an Elected CARE Transition Member shall be treated in all respects with effect from the Transition Date under these Rules as a CARE New Member and not as a CARE Transition Member.
- 9.2 An Elected CARE Transition Member shall be treated as a CARE Transition Member and not as a CARE New Member for the purposes of the following Rules:
 - Rule 45.1;

- Rule 45.2; (but for the avoidance of doubt not Rule 45.3)
- Rule 46.4;
- Rule 48.3;
- Rule 58; and
- Rule 91.2.
- 9.3 In relation to an Elected CARE Transition Member:
 - (i) Rule 1.6(c) shall be treated as having been amended so that it shall read:
 - '(c) in the case of Elected CARE Transition Members the purchase of added pension.'
 - (ii) Rule 1.43 shall be treated as having been amended so that it shall read:

'Final Salary Rules: the rules providing benefits on a final salary basis contained in the Original Documents but as summarised in and amended by Part 3 and which relate to Final Salary Scheme Members and also to CARE Transition Members including Elected CARE Transition Members (in relation to their Pensionable Service prior to the Transition Date)'

Part 8 Special Provisions for CARE Members holding a Relevant Office

1. General Provisions

- 1.1 This Schedule sets out the Member Contribution and benefits in relation to a Member of the Scheme who holds the office of Bailiff, Deputy Bailiff, Crown Law Officer or is a Judge of the Courts of Guernsey.
- 1.2 Except as otherwise specified in this Part 8, all the Rules of the Scheme apply.
- 1.3 If there is any conflict between the Rules of the Scheme and the provisions of this Part 8, then in respect of a Member who holds a Relevant Office (only), the provisions of this Part 8 shall prevail.

2. Definitions

In this Part 8 of the Rules, the following definitions apply:

- 2.1 **Bailiff** and **Deputy Bailiff:** the Bailiff and Deputy Bailiff respectively of the Bailiwick of Guernsey;
- 2.2 Crown Law Officer: HM Procureur or HM Comptroller of the Bailiwick of Guernsey;
- 2.3 **Employer:** includes the Crown, the Principal Employer or any other organisation who pays the salary of the holder of the Relevant Office;

2.4 **Enhancement Factor** for the purpose of Rule 13.6 is,

X/Y (but not greater than 1) where

X = the lower of:

- (a) the additional Pensionable Service that the Member would have completed if they had remained in Pensionable Service until Normal Pension Age;
- (b) 10

and Y = the number of years the CARE Member has been a member of the CARE Scheme.

- 2.5 **Judge:** the holder of a judicial office in Guernsey who is paid a salary and excludes a judge who is paid on a fee basis;
- 2.6 **Pension:** in this Part 8 Pension does not include a Terminal Grant;
- 2.7 Relevant Office: the office of Bailiff, Deputy Bailiff, Crown Law Officer or Judge;
- 2.8 **UK Judicial Pension Scheme:** the UK Judicial Pension Scheme 2015;
- 2.9 Where the words 'For the purposes of Rule...' are used in this Part 8 this imports the words 'and notwithstanding the provisions of that Rule..' to the intent that the Rule applies as amended, substituted and construed by the provisions of this Part 8 and shall not confer an additional right or benefit to the provisions of the Rule.

3. Extent of Part 8

- 3.1 This Part 8 sets out the benefits and Member Contribution that apply to
 - 3.1.1 CARE Transition Members and CARE New Members who are holders of a Relevant Office and takes effect from 1st March 2016 or their date of appointment if later;
 - 3.1.2 a Final Salary Protected Member, who at the date of their appointment to a Relevant Office exercises an option to be treated under this Part 8, and takes effect from the date of their appointment; and

applies to the Pensionable Service of that Member from (but not before) the date of their appointment to a Relevant Office.

3.2 If a Final Salary Protected Member wishes to exercise their option to be treated under this Part 8, under Rule 3.1.2 above they must do so within two calendar months from the date of their appointment and if they so elect, they shall become a Care Transition Member for the purposes of these Rules with effect from the date of their appointment.

3.3 The Member Contribution and benefits set out in this Part 8 follow the provisions of the UK Judicial Pension Scheme. If the UK Judicial Pension Scheme is amended, those amendments shall apply to the provisions of this Part 8, unless otherwise agreed between those Active Members holding a Relevant Office at that time (acting collectively) and the Committee and unless otherwise determined by the Committee shall apply from the date of the change in the UK Judicial Pension Scheme.

4. Pensionable Salary

The definition of Pensionable Salary in Rule 1.69 shall not apply to this Part 8. Pensionable Salary in this Part 8 means the Salary of the CARE Active Member (with no Earnings Cap applied).

5. Member Contributions

An Active Member appointed to a Relevant Office must pay Member Contributions under Rule 42.1 as follows:

Annual Rate of Salary	Rate of Active Members' Contributions
	% Salary
Up to £150,000	7.35
£150,001 and above	8.05

- 5.2 In the event that the rates of member contribution and/or the pay bands to which those contributions relate change in the UK Judicial Pension Scheme, the rates of Member Contribution and pay bands in the Scheme under this Part 8 shall be amended to those same rates and pay bands, unless otherwise agreed between those Active Members holding a Relevant Office at that time (acting collectively) and the Committee, and, unless otherwise determined by the Committee, shall apply from the date of the change in the UK Judicial Pension Scheme.
- 5.3 Rule 42.4 shall not apply to this Part 8.

6. Employer Contributions

- 6.1 The Employer shall pay Ordinary Employer Contribution at the rate that the Committee shall from time to time by resolution decide having obtained the advice of the Actuary in accordance with Rule 30.1.
- 6.2 Rule 30.3 shall not apply to this Part 8.
- 6.3 The Cost Cap and Floor described in Rule 30 and Rule 42.3 shall not apply to this Part 8.

6.4 Adjustments made to the UK Judicial Pension Scheme to maintain a proper relationship between the costs of that scheme and the employer cost cap in that scheme shall also apply to this Part 8².

7. Pension Accrual

- 7.1 The accrual rate for the purposes of Rule 50.2 (b) is 2.32% (approximately 1/43.1). If there is any change in the accrual rate in the UK Judicial Pension Scheme, the accrual rate in this Part 8 shall be varied to the same accrual rate as shall apply to the UK Judicial Pension Scheme, with effect from the date of that change to the UK Judicial Pension Scheme unless otherwise agreed between those Active Members holding a Relevant Office at that time (acting collectively) and the Committee.
- 7.2 No Terminal Grant is payable under this Part 8 to a Member who is the holder of a Relevant Office
- 7.3 For the purposes of Rule 1.87 Scheme Year shall mean a period of 12 months ending on 31st March each year.
- 7.4 For the purposes of Rule 39, the calculation of an Active Member's benefits shall be based on the Scheme Year and not on the calendar year. For the purpose of Rule 39.4 the first increase will apply immediately after the 31st March of the year of accrual.
- 7.5 In this Part 8, the CARE Revaluation as defined in Rule 1.14 shall:
 - 7.5.1 for a CARE Active Member, be in accordance with Section 9 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013; and
 - 7.5.2 for a CARE Deferred Member and a CARE Pensioner Member be in accordance with the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971,

in each case as directed by a HM Treasury Order and notwithstanding that neither the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 nor the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971 have legislative effect in Guernsey.

- 7.6 Rule 47 shall not apply to this Part 8.
- 7.7 A worked example of pension accrual under this Part 8 for a CARE Active Member (in substitution for that set out in Rule 39.4) is:

² An employer cost cap applies to the UK Judicial Pension Scheme. The cost of the UK Judicial Pension scheme is assessed against the employer cost cap at each actuarial valuation which is undertaken every few years. If the actuarial valuation indicates that the cost has moved sufficiently away from the employer cost cap, the UK Judicial Pension Scheme must take action to bring the cost of the scheme back to the employer cost cap. This could take the form for Members of the Scheme of amending benefits for future accruals or altering the level of Member Contribution.

Scheme Year: 2017/2018

Pensionable Salary: £150,000

CARE accrual: 2.32% of £150,000 = £3,480

First increase: applies from 1st April 2018 based on HM Treasury

Order

8. Normal Pension Age

8.1 For the purposes of Rule 1.58, Normal Pension Age for a Member under this Part 8 means the UK State Pension Age that would apply to that Member based on the Member's date of birth as determined by section 10 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (notwithstanding that this Act does not have legislative effect in Guernsey).

8.2 If the UK State Pension Age changes, all benefits payable under the Scheme, pursuant to this Part 8, shall be paid by reference to the revised new UK State Pension Age, including those already accrued at the date of that change.

9. Early Retirement

Notwithstanding any other Rule to the contrary and which shall not apply to the holder of a Relevant Office:

- 9.1 CARE Active Members who leave Pensionable Service before Normal Pension Age and CARE Deferred Members shall be entitled to draw their pension before Normal Pension Age, after they have reached the age of 55 or earlier on grounds of ill health.
- 9.2 Pension drawn before the Member has reached Normal Pension Age shall be subject to an early retirement reduction determined by the Committee after they have obtained the advice of the Actuary.
- 9.3 A CARE Active Member may opt to make periodic payments throughout their Pensionable Service to attain a pension age up to three years below the Member's Normal Pension Age provided that it would achieve an effective pension age of at least 65.
- 9.4 The amount of any periodic payments payable under Rule 9.3 of this Part 8 shall be determined by the Committee after obtaining the advice of the Actuary.
- 9.5 Rule 45.3 shall not apply to this Part 8.
- 9.6 Upon leaving Pensionable Service, CARE Active Members shall be entitled (and which is in addition to the option in Rule 9.3 of this Part 8) to buy out all of the actuarial reduction from their CARE Scheme benefit in the event that they retire before the Normal Pension

Age. The amount of the single payment payable under this Rule 9.6 of Part 8 shall be determined by the Committee after obtaining the advice of the Actuary.

10. Late Retirement

For the purposes of Rule 53:

- 10.1 CARE Active Members who remain in Pensionable Service and CARE Deferred Members who draw their Pension (in either case) after having reached Normal Pension Age shall be entitled to a late retirement augmentation factor applied to the Pension they have accrued under this Part 8. The late retirement augmentation factor shall be determined by the Committee after obtaining the advice of the Actuary.
- 10.2 A CARE Active Member who continues in Service after reaching Normal Pension Age shall be paid a Pension calculated in accordance with Rule 53 and for the avoidance of doubt the accrual rate in Rule 50.2 shall be calculated under Rule 7 of this Part 8.

11. Partial Retirement

- 11.1 A Partial Retirement Member falling within Rule 51 may notwithstanding Rule 51.2 (a) elect to receive the whole of their Pension relating to Pensionable Service accrued under this Part 8.
- 11.2 Notwithstanding Rule 51.1 the Partial Retirement Member may only exercise the option in Rule 51.1 on one occasion.

12. Medical Retirement

- 12.1 For the purposes of Rule 52.1(c) a CARE Active Member may retire on the grounds of Total Incapacity if in the Committee's opinion, and having taken medical advice, he has suffered a permanent breakdown in health which results in him not being able to properly discharge the duties of the Relevant Office.
- 12.2 For the purposes of Rule 52.5, augmentation to the Member's Pension shall be based on the CARE Active Member's Pensionable Salary as at the date of retirement.

13. Death Benefits

- 13.1 For the purposes of Rule 54 the Death in Service Lump Sum is calculated as the greater of:
 - (a) 2 x Final Pay (less any lump sum payments already made); and
 - (b) 5 x accrued CARE Pension (less the total aggregated amount of any Pension payment already made).

- 13.2 Final Pay means the greater of the amount of Pensionable Salary in the 12 months ending on the last day of Pensionable Service or the amount of Pensionable Salary for any Scheme Year in the 10 years immediately preceding the last active Scheme Year.
- 13.3 For the purposes of Rule 54, the Pensionable Salary Entitlement shall not be payable.
- 13.4 For the purposes of Rule 54.2(h) AVC/ERR shall mean the voluntary contributions paid pursuant to Rule 9.3 and or Rule 9.6 of this Part 8 to reduce the Normal Pension Age.
- For the purposes of Rule 54.2(i)(i) AR is the accrual rate of 1/114.94 (0.87%)(being 3/8 (37.5%) of the Member's accrual rate).
- 13.6 For the purposes of Rule 54.2(i)(iv) the augmentation to the Spouse Pension shall be:
 - (3/8 x CARE Member's accrued CARE Pension accrued under this Part 8) x Enhancement Factor.
- 13.7 For the purpose of Rule 54, where a Spouse Pension is paid, the additional pension for a Qualifying Child is calculated as:
 - 80% x Spouse Pension.
 - Where there are 2 or more qualifying children each Qualifying Child is entitled to the appropriate fraction of 80% of the Spouse Pension and 'appropriate fraction' means 2/Y, where Y is the number of those qualifying children.
- 13.8 For the purpose of Rule 54, where a Spouse Pension is not paid, the pension for a Qualifying Child is calculated as:
 - 4/3 of the Spouse Pension.
 - Where there are 2 or more qualifying children, each Qualifying Child is entitled to the appropriate fraction of 4/3 of the Spouse Pension, and 'appropriate fraction' means 2/Y, where Y is the number of those qualifying children.
- 13.9 For the purpose of Rule 54, if the Member is more than 12 years older than the Spouse, the Spouse Pension is reduced by 2.5% for every complete year that the age between the Member and the Spouse is greater than 12 years subject to a maximum reduction of 50% of the Spouse Pension.

14. Allocation

14.1 A CARE Active Member or a CARE Deferred Member whose benefits are to be calculated by reference to this Part 8, may, subject to the receipt of a medical report satisfactory in all respects to the Committee, surrender part of their own Pension to provide a pension for a financial dependant, payable following the Member's death. A 'financial dependant' for the purposes of this Rule 14 means a person who is financially

- dependent on a Member or financially dependent on a person with whom the Member is financially interdependent.
- 14.2 The option in Rule 14.1 of this Part 8 is exercisable upon the retirement of the Member from Pensionable Service or at any time during the Pensionable Service of the Member.
- 14.3 Once an option under Rule 14.1 of this Part 8 has been exercised by the Member it cannot be revoked by the Member. The pension for the financial dependant cannot be assigned or transferred to any third party.
- 14.4 The amount of the pension for a financial dependant shall be determined by the Committee after obtaining the advice of the Actuary.

15. Re-joining the Scheme

Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 36.3, if a Member leaves this Part 8 of the Scheme with not less than *two* years of Pensionable Service and re-joins this Part 8 of the Scheme within *five* years of the date of leaving the Scheme, then:

- the provisions of this Part 8 shall apply for the purposes of calculating his Pension and other benefits under this Part 8 of the Scheme; and
- his two (or more) periods of Pensionable Service under this Part 8 will be linked for the purpose of calculating the Pension and other benefits.

16. Opt-Out

- 16.1 Rules 41 and 43 shall not apply.
- 16.2 An Active Member may opt out of Pensionable Service in the CARE Scheme and if they shall do so
 - (a) they may elect to have all Employer contributions paid to the Defined Contribution Scheme on their behalf;
 - (b) there is no limit on the amount of Pensionable Salary a Member may contribute to the Defined Contribution Scheme; and
 - (c) the minimum contribution by a Member to the Defined Contribution Scheme is 3% of Pensionable Salary and the Employer's contribution would in that event be 19% of Pensionable Salary.